
BOARD OF EDUCATION
SD NO. 40 (NEW WESTMINSTER)

Operations Policy and Planning Committee
AGENDA

Tuesday, May 14, 2019
7:30 pm

School Board Office
811 Ontario Street, New Westminster

The New Westminster School District recognizes and acknowledges the Qayqayt First Nations, as
well as all Coast Salish peoples on whose traditional and unceded territories

we live, we learn, we play and we do our work.
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1. Approval of Agenda

Recommendation:
THAT the agenda for the May 14, 2019 Open Operations Policy and Planning
Committee meeting be adopted as distributed.

a. Appointment of Superintendent as Acting Secretary-Treasurer

Recommendation:
THAT Superintendent Hachlaf be appointed Acting Secretary-Treasurer,
to preside over the May 14, 2019 Open Operations Policy and Planning
Committee meeting, in the absence of Secretary-Treasurer Morris.
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a. City of New Westminster - Development Services re 647 Ewen Ave. -
August 27, 2018
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G. Lachmuth)
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i. 2019-2020 Budget - Process Debrief / Overview

ii.Long-Range Facilities Review

a. Feedback

b. Recommendation:
THAT the Operations Policy and Planning
Committee recommend to the Board of Education of
School District No. 40 (New Westminster) approval
of Option 2: Addition to Queensborough Middle
School + 3 new schools (1 Middle and 1 Elementary
and 1 configuration to be determined) as outlined in
the Long-Range Facilities Review.

6. General Announcements

7. New Business

a. Living Wage (Trustee Gifford) 135

Recommendation:
THAT the Operations Policy and Planning Committee recommend to the
Board of Education of School District No. 40 (New Westminster) to
instruct staff to prepare a report, on or before the November 19, 2019
Operations Policy and Planning Committee Meeting, that provides an
analysis of the costs and benefits of
New Westminster Schools becoming a Living Wage Employer.

b. Audit Planning Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2019 (Tim Holloway,
KPMG & James Pocher)

136
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8. Old Business

9. Question Period (15 Minutes)

Questions to the Chair on matters that arose during the meeting.

10. Adjournment
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New Westminster School District 40
Operations Committee 

May 14, 2019

Halena Seiferling, Campaign Organizer, Living Wage for Families Campaign 
Catherine Ludgate, Senior Manager of Community Investment, Vancity Credit Union
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What is the Living Wage? 
• The hourly amount a worker would need to earn in order to 

be able to live in their community. 
• Calculated based on a two-parent and two-child family, the 

most common family type in BC, to capture expenses that 
most families would encounter. 

• Calculation includes: rent, food, child care, transportation, 
and other expenses, as well as government taxes and 
transfers. 

• An overall picture of the cost of living in the community. 
• One tool to be used in ending working poverty. 
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What is the Living Wage not?
• The minimum wage. The minimum wage is the legislated 

amount employers must pay their employees as defined by 
the provincial government. 

• A legislated or mandatory wage. It is an optional amount 
that employers can choose to pay to show their 
commitment to reducing working poverty. 

• Arbitrary. Our data comes from Statistics Canada 
measures such as the Consumer Price Index, the Market 
Basket Measure, and the Canadian Housing and Mortgage 
Corporation, as well as local surveys of costs in each 
community. The living wage is therefore a robust measure 
of the cost of living. 
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How is the Living Wage used?

• Living wages in communities across the province are 
calculated annually. 

• Employers are certified as Living Wage Employers if they 
pay the living wage. 

• The Living Wage for Families Campaign also advocates for 
complementary policies to help families; issues like 
housing, food, and transportation.

Page 25 of 176



Why a living wage?

• 1 in 5 BC children are still growing up in poverty.
• The majority of these children live with parents 

who work.
• Poverty can adversely affect child development.
• 32 per cent of families in Metro Vancouver earn 

below the living wage and therefore struggle to 
make ends meet.

• Employers who pay higher wages report higher 
staff morale, productivity, and retention rates. 
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Making a difference 

• Over 140 certified Living Wage 
Employers

• Impacting more than 20,000 
workers across the province 

• Fighting for low-wage and 
precarious workers 
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2019 Living Wages in BC 
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Living Wage Employers: 
• Commit to paying their staff and contractors their regional 

living wage per hour. 
• Mandate that for major service contracts, service providers 

must also pay their staff the living wage. 
• Can use some exemptions, including for contracts of fewer 

than 120 hour per year, students, social enterprises, and 
more.

• The Living Wage for Families Campaign has some further 
criteria that we can provide more information about, but 
large employers can also determine the extent to which it 
makes sense to include their service contracts in their policy.
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The Living Wage 
Employer Process 
for SD40

1. Learn about the living wage. 
2. Pass a motion for staff to prepare a full 

report on the costs and implications of 
passing a living wage policy. 

3. Accept staff report and determine if 
SD40 would like to move forward with 
becoming a Living Wage Employer. 

4. Throughout the process, receive support 
from the Living Wage for Families 
Campaign regarding advice on drafting a 
living wage policy, specifics of criteria, 
etc. 
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Monitoring        & Reporting 

• Employers inform service providers 
of their intention to be a Living 
Wage Employer, and renegotiate 
those contracts when next they 
become open. 

• Living Wage Employers are not 
expected to monitor whether their 
service providers pay their staff the 
living wage, but are expected to 
have the right of “proof.” 

• The Living Wage for Families Campaign 
informs Living Wage Employers of the new 
living wage rates each spring. 

• Living Wage Employers must complete a 
one-page form recertifying their 
commitment to continuing to pay the 
living wage within 6 months of new living 
wages being released. 
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Living Wage Employers of Note 
Local governments: 
• 8 in BC have become Living Wage Employers, 

including the City of New Westminster (in 2011) 

School Districts: 
• School District 69 – Qualicum (certified in 2015)

Employers in New Westminster: 
• United Food and Commercial Workers, Local 1518 

(certified in 2012)
• Community Savings Credit Union (branches in New 

Westminster - certified in 2010) 
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Vancity’s Journey: Staff 
Were our employees close to or already at the Living 
Wage? At the time of application, Vancity had 2,361 
employees, more than 98% of which are paid above 
the Living Wage.  

We determined two reasons that had led to 2% 
being below the Living Wage: the structure of our 
salary scales/wage grids; and, our casual employees 
are not provided benefits due to inconsistent work 
terms.    
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Vancity’s Journey: Contractors
• Had 1,200 unique contractors across 45 industry sectors! Proposed concentrating on ‘strategic’ suppliers 

(annual spend over $250K or more than 120 hours of labour service provided, as well as reputational 
risk/operational risk such as business continuity).

• Also included suppliers in categories where we considered workers to be “vulnerable” – there we lowered 
the thresholds: Personnel Agencies to $50k, Janitorial to $50k, Catering to $10k; and, Security Services 
to $100k.

• With this combination of strategic spend and a focus on these four categories of vulnerable workers, we 
believe we have affected 90% of our spend (in ~55 contracts).
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Business case: real savings from happy workers

35% increase in performance 

47% improvement in morale

45% improvement in customer service

44% fewer disciplinary issues

50% reduction in employee turnover
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Other benefits… surprise!
• Set aside $1M to come compliant in year 

one; the actual costs were $700k.
• Focus on reviewing strategic contracts 

has been a good exercise to review what 
we are buying and why.  

• Open houses to announce RFPs and 
explain Living Wage and vision.

• Now saving ~$1M a year through a 
different relationship with our 
contractors.
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Catherine – process for employers? 
• Implementation process for Vancity?
• Lessons learned from past campaigns? 
• Anything else? Feel free to add as many slides as you need!  
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Halena Seiferling 
halena@livingwageforfamilies.ca

604.975.3347 

Catherine Ludgate 
livingwage@vancity.com

604.709.6940

Thank you! 
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New Westminster Secondary School Replacement Project 
SD 40 Board Report #22 
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  May 14, 2019 

1. Project Summary  

The existing school facility is approximately 69 years old and it has reached the end of its useful life as 
well as being classified as H1 high seismic risk. The existing school facility is built on an area that has 
history of burial usage.  

The project consists of design and construction of a 19,837m2 replacement facility on the existing SD-
owned property, decommissioning of the existing school, and restoration of the site with appropriate 
memorialization.   

2. Project Structure  

The Project Team are identified in Appendix 1.  

3. Scope 

The new school will accommodate more than 1,900 students with 76 teaching units and an allowable 
school area of 16,390m2, plus Neighbourhood Learning Centre (NLC) space of 2,802m2, and a SD 
Maintenance/IT facility of 645m2, for a total gross area of 19,837m2 per the CPFA.  

There may be sufficient site area to accommodate two playfields and the Maintenance/IT facility is 
proposed as a stand-alone facility separate from the new school building.   

4. Schedule  

The following Table 1 sets out target milestone dates.  

Table 1 – Tentative Timetable for Key Milestones 

Milestone/Deliverable Target Dates Revised 
RFQ issued November 24, 2016 -/- 
RFP issued  Early March 2017 Late March 2017 
Technical submissions  July 2017 September 25, 2017 
Financial submissions August 2017 November 1, 2017 
Contract award September 2017 December 2017  
Occupancy  September 2019 September 2020 
Demo + Memorialization September 2020 -/- 

 

5. Budget 

Contract expenditures to date total to an aggregate value of $26,700,000 – On Budget 

6. Communications 

a) General 

• Teachers and Department Heads have been consulted on classroom requirements. 
• Ongoing stakeholder consultation regarding scheduling of civil works between Massey Theatre 

and Moody Park Arena (Tentative for July/August 2019). 
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New Westminster Secondary School Replacement Project 
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• Ongoing communications with adjacent stakeholders (one-on-one) and surrounding community 

by door-to-door flyers (as required) and web updates, as and when required. 
• Memorialization Advisory Committee (MAC) met May 1, 2019 – ongoing. 

7. Procurement  
• Completed 

8. Work Completed or Underway - See photos pages 5-8 

Over the course of March/April: 

• Foundation/Seismic Readiness work has been completed. 

• Footings - East and North wings are now completed.  

• Civil works: 

 New service lines (electrical, water, sewer) installed throughout the foundation of the East 
Wing (Grand Commons to Sixth Street). 

 Remediation and resurfacing of internal service lane (aka 7th Street) from area of project 
office, northerly to 10th Avenue. 

 No archeological/environmental issues. 

• Concrete Work - area in the north wing has all service lines installed and the concrete slab-on-
grade floor for gymnasium was poured on March 20th. East Wing slab-on-grade concrete floor 
continues in Westerly direction.  

• Structural Steel Construction – East Wing of school has significant amount of work completed – 
structural steel, hollow-core floor panels, top-lift concrete on floor. 

Looking into May/June: 
• Concrete slab-on-grade floors to continue along East Wing to Grand Commons and Theatre. 

• Erecting the structural steel – ongoing along North Wing towards gymnasium area. 

• Placement of “Hollow Core” concrete floor panels in balance of East Wing and then advance to 
North Wing. 

• Maintenance/IT (MIT) Building – foundation excavation and footings preparation. 

Notes: 

• On-time…On budget. (One year to completion) 

• No changes to “Risk Summary” – all items are “Low Risk”. 

• Work hours for Graham Design-Builders - Monday to Friday from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

• Traffic/Pedestrian/Cycling movements through and around worksite on Municipal streets are 
operating effectively and safely.  

  

Page 41 of 176



New Westminster Secondary School Replacement Project 
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Figure 1 – Anticipated Location of Major Site Uses (January 2017) 
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Appendix 1 – Project Team 

 

• School District #40: 
o Karim Hachlaf, Superintendent 
o Kim Morris, Secretary-Treasurer 
o Murray McLeod, NWSS Principal 
o Dave Crowe, Director, Capital Projects 
o Grant Lachmuth (Black Wolf Consulting Inc.), Project Officer 

  

Page 43 of 176



New Westminster Secondary School Replacement Project 
SD 40 Board Report #22 

 

Page 5 of 8 PROVIDED AS INFORMATION – MAY BE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 
  May 14, 2019 

 

View from Project Cam – April 22nd 

 

View from gymnasium area  
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Concrete floor for gymnasium 

 

Concrete finishing of gym floor  
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View from 6th Street 

 

View from 6th Street – Top-lift concrete on 3rd Floor  
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View of Theatre 

 

 

Ground Floor on East Wing facing 6th Street (CTE Area) 
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Operations Update 
May 14, 2019 

 

 

Capital Projects, Operations and Planning 

Lord Tweedsmuir Elementary School 

The Lord Tweedsmuir Seismic Upgrade is going well and on schedule. Unitech has finished the 
demolition of rooms 109, 203, 204 and the Resource Room, and have completed all seismic 
connections and shear walls. The new sub-flooring has been completed as well as the new air 
handlers with ducting. Unitech has started on the MDF sheeting of the walls and dry walling of the 
ceilings. Rooms 109, 203, 204 and the Resource Room will be completed with new flooring, cabinets, 
lighting and T-Bar drop ceiling by the last week of May. Unitech has poured the slab and footings for 
the new elevator and the elevator shaft has been built ready to start framing. Unitech will be ready to 
start the next set of classrooms 108, 111, 206 & 207 in the beginning of June. Unitech has completed 
all of the crawl space with sheer walls and strapping and has also poured all the footings. 
 
Richard McBride Elementary School 

The public will soon have a chance to see draft designs and artists’ renderings of what a new school for 
Richard McBride Elementary will look like, thanks to the input of parents, staff and the community. 
Architects at IBI Architectural Group will be ready to present their drafts at a second public consultation 
event scheduled for spring. The $22.6 million seismic replacement for the 90-year-old structure will 
provide students with a safe, modern school to learn and thrive in. Completion is slated for 2021. Please 
check out the District’s website for additional details. 
 
All Other Projects 

• New Westminster Secondary School 

See meeting agenda item. 

• Herbert Spencer Elementary School 
Upgrade of new boilers and hot water tanks to an on-demand system with new pumps and 
controls. The work will be done over the summer AFG project $320,000.00. 
We are also doing a complete floor replacement SEP $170,000.00 and Gym floor from AFG 
$20,000.00 

• Glenbrook Middle School 
Replacing Gas fired roof top units to hot water from June 2019 to March 2020. SEP project 
$528,000.oo and some out of AFG $200,000.00 

• Lord Kelvin Elementary School 
Complete boiler and air handler upgrade from June 2019 to March 2020 SEP project 
$900,000.00 and $200,000.00 from AFG.  
We are also doing a sprinkler piping refit replacing all dry system piping and straps tees from 
AFG $50,000.00 
 

Staff continues to work on planning for future projects. 
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Long-Range Facilities Review 
New Westminster Schools 

April 4, 2019 

Why Undertake a Long-Range Facilities Review? 
The purpose of the review is multi-faceted: 

• determine enrolment growth and corresponding future space requirements for
delivery of educational services in New Westminster Schools

• fulfill the Ministry of Education’s (MOE) requirement for a 10-year long-range
facilities plan to support the rolling annual 5-Year Annual Capital Plan

• examine a longer timeframe beyond the 10-year required by the Ministry, to
2041 to coincide with the longer term planning horizon of the recently adopted
New Westminster Official Community Plan (OCP)

• estimate the number of additional students from new housing to be determined
from the OCP, and to provide enrolment projections for the schools

• propose options to accommodate future enrolment increases
• prepare a further detailed study for the next 10 years based on the option

preferred by the Board of Education

Timeline 

Cascade Facilities Management Ltd. was contracted in December 2017 and delivered 
its draft report in June 2018 (Appendix A).  Over the course of the summer 2018, a 
new district staff team was hired, and a new Board of Education was elected in 
November 2018.  During the month of April 2019, the Board will present the facilities 
review to the public and seek feedback on the options considered, including the 
preferred recommendation.  By May 31, 2019 the Board intends to have an approved 
Long-Range Facilities Plan to include with the Annual 5-Year Capital Plan 
submission on June 30, 2019. 

Over the planning horizon, the plan will be monitored relative to enrolment growth 
and capital application approvals for improved capacity and will be adjusted as 
necessary.  The overall intent of the plan is to provide direction for capital spending 
into the future.  This will help New Westminster Schools be responsive and proactive 
to enrolment and capacity changes.  A solid and sustainable plan will improve return 
on investment and reduce the number of portables required for instruction. 
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Data 
There are five key considerations when undertaking a facilities review: 

1. Enrolment:  How many students do we/will we have? 

2. Capacity:  How many seats do we have/will we need for students? 

3. Utilization:  How full or empty are the schools/will the schools be? 

4. Condition:  What is the quality of the structures we have/will have? 

5. Options:  After analyzing the enrolment, capacity, utilization and condition 
data, what priorities begin to emerge?  What different scenarios should be 
considered? 
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Enrolment:  How many students do we have? 
In September 2018, New Westminster Schools had a total K-12 Standard school 
enrolment of 6,497 in: 

8 elementary schools 
3 middle schools 
1 secondary school 
3 alternate programs located in the secondary school, a shared leased 

space, and 5 modulars/portables 
29 classroom modulars/portables* 

In addition, New Westminster Schools also had a total Alternate and Distributed 
Learning enrolment of 392 FTE* (full-time equivalent) in:  

3 distributed learning programs located in a closed elementary school, 
6 modulars/portables and a shared leased space 

* Modulars are prefabricated structures with robust structural features that assist in longer-term occupancy solutions such 
as full day Kindergarten. 

Portables are prefabricated structures have standard structural features and are intended for temporary capacity challenges

* Full-Time Equivalent: Number of Courses Enrolled 
Headcount 

Elementary Headcount Location
Modular/Portable:  
Instructional

Modular/Portable:  
Non-Instructional

Lord Kelvin Elementary 455 Lord Kelvin Elementary 3 1
Herbert Spencer Elementary 470 Herbert Spencer Elementary 3
Richard McBride Elementary 422 Richard McBride Elementary 2 1
Lord Tweedsmuir Elementary 357 Lord Tweedsmuir Elementary 2 1
FW Howay Elementary 120 FW Howay Elementary 1
Connaught Elementary 158 Connaught Elementary 3 1
Queen Elizabeth Elementary 443 Queen Elizabeth Elementary 9 1
Qayqayt Elementary 509 Qayqayt Elementary 1

2,934         
Middle
Queensborough Middle 320 Queensborough Middle 4
Glenbrook Middle 639 Glenbrook Middle 2
Fraser River Middle 491 Fraser River Middle

1,450         
Secondary 
New Westminster Secondary 1,695         New Westminster Secondary 2

International 285 New Westminster Secondary

Alternate
Royal City (Junior) 44 Fraser River Middle School Site 5
Power (Senior) 45 Columbia Square Lease
Sigma 44 New Westminster Secondary

133 

Total On-Site Students 6,497        

Distributed Learning FTE
Hume Park Home Learner 123 Hume Park Elementary 1 1
Continuing Education 218 Modulars on New Westminster Secondary Site 6
Access New West Online 51 Columbia Square Lease
Total Off-Site Students 392 

Administration Buildings
School Board Office School Board Office 1
Inclusion Itinerant Offices Modular on Lord Tweedsmuir Site 1
Maintenance/Technology Modulars on New Westminster Secondary Site 2

Total Enrolment 6,889        On-Site and Off-Site 40 14
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Enrolment:  How many students will we have? 

The enrolment prepared by Cascade Facilities Management Ltd. projects an increase 
in enrolment from 6,497 in 2018 to 8,238 by 2041. 

NOTE:  Cascade’s projections do not include our alternate program housed at New 
Westminster Secondary nor the international student enrolment.   

New housing developments expected in New Westminster, will be yielding a student 
age population of close to 2,800, and based on an assumed participation rate * for 
the District, approximately 80% will be attending SD40 schools. 

* Participation rate:  # children resident and attending SD40 Schools 
Total # children resident  

 
 

 
 Elementary & Middle 
 By zone 

2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 Growth 

Queensborough 700 799 885 948 984 1018 45% 

Fraser River 1895 2048 2246 2472 2699 2927 54% 

Glenbrook 1642 1768 1837 1940 2042 2143 31% 

 

  

 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 Growth 
(2017 to 2041) 

 
Queen Elizabeth 418 459 495 523 541 558   
Queensborough 282 340 390 425 443 460  
École Qayqayt 493 545 615 685 745 803  
Connaught Heights 164 180 190 226 260 299  
École Lord Tweedsmuir 347 370 383 396 409 422  
Lord Kelvin 419 447 497 547 597 645  
Fraser River 472 506 561 618 688 758  
École Herbert Spencer 463 491 512 536 560 584  
FW Howay 127 133 138 142 146 150  
Richard McBride 433 499 526 576 625 674  
Glenbrook 619 645 661 686 711 735  
New Westminster 1737 1797 1877 1967 2055 2150    
DISTRICT 5974 6412 6845 7327 7780 8238   
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Capacity:  How many seats do we have? 
 

 
 
* Nominal capacity is based on occupancy as follows: 

20 students per classroom Kindergarten 
25 students per classroom Elementary 
25 students per classroom Secondary 

 
*NOTE:  Capacity Greater Than 100%:  Ideally all schools operate at as near to 100% as possible.  However, many schools in 
New Westminster and throughout the province operate robust programming at greater than 100% capacity, especially at 
secondary schools.  It should also be noted that schools operating at greater than 100% are not automatically approved for 
capital expansions or replacements. 

 
  

  
Assumptions 

by 2041

Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Pending 

Capital 
Approval

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 460 460
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 375 375 375

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 6695 6835 7120

École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

École Qayqayt (K-5) 
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Utilization:  How full or empty are our schools? 

Capacity Utilization:   Enrolment Headcount 
Number of seats or Nominal Capacity 

100% capacity utilization in any one building indicates the buildings is full.  A 
capacity utilization of 50% indicates the building is half-full.  A capacity utilization 
of 120% means there are 20% more students attending the school than the school 
was built for (possibly attending in portables).   

New Westminster Schools has a 96% capacity utilization using current enrolment.  
If enrolment did not change from today, and once Richard McBride Elementary and 
New Westminster Secondary Schools (NWSS) are constructed, the District would be 
at 94% capacity.  If enrolment did not change from today and the Queen Elizabeth 
Elementary expansion project was approved and constructed, the district would be 
at 90% capacity. 

 

 
 
Utilization:  How full or empty will our schools be? 
 
If we go one step further and account for enrolment growth between 2018 and 2041, 
AND capital construction project applications approved (NWSS & McBride) and 
pending (Queen Elizabeth), district capacity utilization is 96% in 2018, 103% in 
2026 and 118% in 2041.  Note: a planned downsizing of international programming 
is required to meet 109% capacity utilization at the secondary school in 2041.  

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 93% 93% 12 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 93% 93% 41 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 55% 55% 298 
Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 98% 98% 9 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 99% 99% 5 365
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 104% 104% -20 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 63% 63% 70 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 111% 111% -64 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 84% 84% 83 69
Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 145% 75% 147 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 85% 85% 55 202

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 96% 96% 76 
76

District Total 96% 94% 90% 712 712

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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If the District reaches 118% capacity utilization by 2041, the district will be short 
1,262 seats.   

  

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 176% -129 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 146% -253 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 
Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 152% -258 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 140% -185 -592 
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 130% -134 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 128% -160 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 133% -169 -423 
Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 123% -85 -53 

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 99% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 118% -1,262 -1,262 
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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As the District looks at enrolment growth and capacity growth from capital 
projects, by zone, priorities begin to emerge as follows: 

1. Fraser River Zone:  short 592 seats /  125% capacity 
2. Glenbrook Zone:  short 423 seats /  125% capacity 
3. Queensborough Zone: short 53 seats /  105% capacity 

 
Facility Condition:  What is the quality of the buildings we have/will have? 
 
The provincial facility condition sits somewhere in the 43% range.  The VFA Condition 
Report for New Westminster Schools indicates that twelve of the schools, with a 
Facility Condition Index (FCI*) score of 0% and 42%, are in better condition than the 
provincial average and two in worse condition, with a score higher than 43%.   
 
New Westminster Secondary School has an FCI of 70% and is currently being 
replaced.  Hume Park Home Learner Program, one of the District’s Distributed 
Learning Programs, is housed in the closed Hume Park Elementary School, and has 
an FCI of 51%. 
 
New Westminster Schools’ total FCI is 35% and is 13% better than the provincial 
average. 
 
 
*FCI = Future deferred maintenance costs 

Replacement value  

• Reported as a percentage 
• Rule of thumb:  the lower the percentage FCI, the better the condition of the building 
• E.g.  New Westminster Secondary has an FCI of 70% meaning it has a large number of capital requirements to 

maintain the building; Qayqayt, one of the District’s newest school, has an FCI of 0% and has very few capital 
requirements given its recent construction, to maintain the building. 

  

Page 56 of 176



 

Page 9 of 40 

 

 
 
Seismically, all schools in the high-risk category have been upgraded or replaced, 
or supported for seismic upgrade or replacement. Two schools:  Connaught and 
Lord Kelvin Elementary, remain in the medium risk category and one school:  
Queen Elizabeth Elementary, in the low risk category.  

New Westminster Schools has a very good overall facility condition index leading to 
safe and healthy learning environments.  

Options 
 
After analyzing the enrolment, capacity, utilization and condition data, what 
priorities begin to emerge?  What different scenarios should be considered? At what 
cost? 
 
Four options were proposed by Cascade: 

Option 1: Additions to schools based on growth in catchment area (i.e. add space 
to existing buildings wherever needed). 

Option 2: Addition to Queensborough Middle School + 3 new schools (1 Middle 
and 1 Elementary and 1 configuration to be determined). 

Option 3:  Co-location of K-5 and 6-8 on same site within Queensborough, Fraser 
River and Glenbrook zones. 

Option 4: Eliminate middle school model and reconfigure all elementary and 
middle schools Grades K-7 (except Connaught Grades K-4), and the 
secondary school Grades 8-12.  

Page 57 of 176



 

Page 10 of 40 

 
Subsequent to the Cascade report, two options were added: 
 
Option 5: Reconfigure middle school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and create junior 

secondary school model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using additions to existing 
buildings. 

 
Option 6: Reconfigure middle school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and create junior 

secondary school model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using 2 additions and 4 new 
builds. 
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Status Quo 

Before analysing options to change capacity and configurations in the District, we 
first must set a baseline or “current state”. 
 
No additions or new builds beyond current approved capital projects and pending 
capital projects. 
 
Assumes New West Secondary and Richard McBride construction is complete. 
Assumes 285 seat Queen Elizabeth expansion project is complete (pending MOE 
approval in capital plan). 
 
Capacity Utilization: 
Fraser River Zone: 125% 
Glenbrook Zone:  125% 
Queensborough Zone: 105% 
District Overall:  118% 
 
All zones overcapacity. 
 
Strengths:  

• no capital costs 

 
Challenges: 

• high operating costs for portables, if possible to place the number needed 
• site constraints for portable installation (required portables do not fit) 
• programming impacted by learning environment, reconfiguration & 

capacity issues 
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Assumptions 

by 2041

Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Pending 

Capital 
Approval

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 460 460
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats aready 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 375 375 375

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 6695 6835 7120

  Zone
Enrolment 

2018
Enrolment 

2026
Enrolment 

2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 158 190 299 141 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 509 615 803 294 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 491 561 758 267 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 455 497 645 190 957
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 470 512 584 114 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 639 661 735 96 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 422 526 674 252 492

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate) 2024 2081 2294 270 270

District Total            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 176% -129 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 146% -253 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 152% -258 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 140% -185 -592 -25%
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 130% -134 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 128% -160 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 133% -169 -423 -25%

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 123% -85 -53 -5%

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 99% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 118% -1,262 -1,262 -18%
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Option 1: Additions to schools based on growth in catchment area (i.e. add space 

to existing buildings wherever needed). 
 
Addition of 1,695 seats in 8 schools: 

• 1,277 elementary 
•    418 middle 

Cost:  $15.6 million +  
 
Strengths: 

• no reconfiguration or redrawing of catchments 
• no site acquisition required 
• inexpensive  
• reduces capacity utilization from 118% to 98% 
• 148 seats available for enrolment fluctuation 

Challenges: 

• Qayqayt Elementary, Fraser River Middle and Glenbrook Middle Schools 
do not have the site size or building design to expand 

• construction disruption impacting 8 sites 
• no inventory renewal (new buildings) 

 

 

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 1

Connaught Heights (K-5) 155 170 170 325
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 362 550 550 912
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 655 655 655
Fraser River Middle (6-8) 258 500 500 758
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 146 460 460 606
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 124 450 450 574
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 160 575 575 735
Richard McBride (K-5) 175 440 505 680

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) 315 305 305 620

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 375 375 375

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 0 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1695 6695 6835 8530

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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  Zone
Enrolment 

2018
Enrolment 

2026
Enrolment 

2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 158 190 299 141 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 509 615 803 294 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 357 383 422 65 
Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 491 561 758 267 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 455 497 645 190 957
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 470 512 584 114 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 639 661 735 96 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 422 526 674 252 492
Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate) 2024 2081 2294 270 270

District Total            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 92% 26 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 88% 109 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 
Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 100% 0 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 106% -39 329
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 102% -10 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 100% 0 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 99% 6 36
Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 90% 62 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 123% -85 -23 

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 99% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 98% 148 148
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5)  
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Option 2: Addition to Queensborough Middle School + 3 new schools (1 Middle 

and 1 Elementary and 1 configuration to be determined). 
 
Addition of 1,465 seats in 4 schools: 

• 500 elementary 
• 965 middle 

Cost: $79 million +, not including land acquisition 
 
Assumes 285 seat Queen Elizabeth expansion project is complete (pending MOE 
approval in capital plan) 
 
Assumes 3rd new school is a middle school 
 
Strengths: 

• minimal construction disruption:  1 addition to existing 
• maintains established grade configuration 
• renews inventory (new schools) 
• no site or expansion constraints (“fits” on site) 
• reduces capacity utilization from 118% to 98%  
• 203 seats available for enrolment fluctuation 

Challenges: 

• expensive 
• requires site acquisition 
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  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 2

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 460 460
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) 500 0 0 500
NEW :  Middle School (6-8) 415 0 0 415
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505
NEW:  Elem or Middle School 500 0 0 500

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 50 375 375 425

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1465 6695 6835 8585

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

Page 65 of 176



 

Page 18 of 40 

 

 
 

  
 
  

  Zone
Suggested 

Enrolment 
Changes 2041

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River -129 158 190 170 12 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River -253 509 615 550 41 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 0 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River -258 491 561 500 9 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River -185 455 497 460 5  
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 455 0 0 455 455 
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Fraser River 370 0 0 370 370 957
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook -134 470 512 450 -20 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook -160 639 661 575 -64 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook -169 422 526 505 83  
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Glenbrook 463 0 0 463 463 492

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate) 2024 2091 2294 270 270

District Total 0 6408 7059 8382 1974 1974

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 100% 0 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 100% 0 
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 0% 0% 91% 45 
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Fraser River 0% 0% 89% 45 323 10%
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 100% 0 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 100% 0 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 100% 0  
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Glenbrook 0% 0% 93% 37 77 3%

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 108% -35 -3 0%

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 100% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 98% 203 203 2%

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Option 3: Co-location of K-5 and 6-8 on same site within Queensborough,  

Fraser River and Glenbrook zones 
 
Addition of 1,275 seats in 8 schools: 

• 1,025 elementary 
•    250 middle 

Cost: $27.7 million 
 
Strengths: 

• mid-range cost 
• no site acquisition required 
• reduced capacity utilization from 118% to 100% 

Challenges: 

• only 13 seats available for enrolment fluctuation 
• undesirable grade reconfigurations in 10 schools 
• prioritizes space utilization over educational programming 

 

 
  

Zone Current Proposed
QUEENSBOROUGH Queen Elizabeth Elementary K-4 K-3

Queensborough Middle 5-8 4-8
FRASER RIVER Connaught Elementary K-5 K-5

Lord Tweedsmuir Elementary K-5 K-8
Lord Kelvin Elementary K-5 K-8
Qayqayt K-5 K-8
Fraser River Middle School 6-8 K-8

GLENBROOK Herbert Spencer Elementary K-5 K-8
FW Howay Elementary K-5 K-8
Richard McBride Elementary K-5 K-8
Glenbrook Middle 6-8 K-8
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  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 3

Connaught Heights (K-5) 200 170 170 370
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 125 550 550 675

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 125 500 500 625
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 250 460 460 710
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 100 450 450 550
FW Howay (K-5) 250 190 190 440
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 100 440 505 605

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 125 375 375 500

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1275 6695 6835 8395

  Zone
Enrolment 

2018
Enrolment 

2026
Enrolment 

2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 158 190 299 141 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 509 615 803 294 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 491 561 758 267 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 455 497 645 190 957
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 470 512 584 114 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 639 661 735 96 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 422 526 674 252 492

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate) 2024 2081 2294 270 270

District Total            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 81% 71 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 119% -128 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 121% -133 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 91% 65 108
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 106% -34 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 34% 290 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 128% -160 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 111% -69 27

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 92% 40 72

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 99% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 100% 13 13
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-

 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Option 4: Eliminate middle school model and reconfigure all elementary and 

middle schools Grades K-7 (except Connaught Grades K-4), and the 
secondary school Grades 8-12 

 
Addition of 1,315 seats in 7 schools: 

• 875 elementary/middle 
• 440 secondary 

Cost: $45 million + 
 
Strengths: 

• no site acquisition required 
• reduces capitalization utilization from 118% to 99% 

Challenges: 

• expensive 
• significant construction disruption:  8 additions to existing 
• secondary school does not have the site size or building design to expand 

(doesn’t “fit”) 
• significant grade reconfiguration 
• only 53 available seats for enrolment fluctuation 
• may create have and have not schools where K-7 in purpose built middle 

schools may have more quality programming (exploratory space:  foods, 
tech ed. labs etc.) than a purpose built K-7 
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  Zone
Reconfigure     
K-7/8-12

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 158 190 299 141 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 509 615 803 294 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River -172 491 561 586 95 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 455 497 645 190 785
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 470 512 584 114 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook -185 639 661 550 -89 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 422 526 674 252 307

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough -83 320 390 377 57 172
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate)

440
2024 2081 2734 710 710

District Total 0            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 4

Connaught Heights (K-5) 150 170 170 320
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 100 550 550 650

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 100 500 500 600
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 200 460 460 660
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 225 190 190 415
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 100 375 375 475

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 440 2025 2100 2540

District Total 1315 6695 6835 8435

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-

) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 

 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 93% 21 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 124% -153 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 98% 14 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 98% 15 130
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 130% -134 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 36% 265 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 96% 25 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 133% -169 -13 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 79% 98 130

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 99% 108% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 99% 53 53
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Option 5: Reconfigure middle school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and create junior 

secondary school model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using additions to existing 
buildings only 

 
Addition of 1800 seats in 10 schools: 

• 1,350 elementary 
•    450 secondary 

Cost: $30.6 million + 
 
Strengths: 

• no site acquisition required 
• mid-range cost 

Challenges: 

• significant construction disruption:  10 additions to existing 
• Qayqayt Elementary, Fraser River Middle and Glenbrook Middle 

Schools do not have the site size or building design to expand 
• significant grade reconfiguration 
• 84% capacity at NWSS with 343 empty seats (built for 4 grade 

configuration; reconfigured to 3 grades).  International student loss of 185 
could be added back to NWSS and increase capacity to 92% but still under-
utilized for a secondary school. 
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Zone
Enrolment 

2018
Enrolment 

2026
Enrolment 

2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-6) Fraser River 174                   206                    323 149 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) Fraser River 583                   700                    913 330 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) Fraser River 416                   443                   486 70 

Fraser River Middle (7-9) Fraser River 488                   562                   737 249 
Lord Kelvin (K-6) Fraser River 510                   553                    716 206 1,003
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) Glenbrook 550                   595                   677 127 
FW Howay (K-6) Glenbrook 149                   168                     181 32 
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) Glenbrook 636                   661                    714 78 
Richard McBride (K-6) Glenbrook 492                  609                   779 287 523

Queen Elizabeth (K-5) Queensborough 531                   589                   662 131 

Queensborough Middle (6-9) Queensborough 317                   389                   438 121 253
New Westminster Secondary 
(10-12) 1562               1,572                1,757 195 195

District Total            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

Assumptions 
by 2041

Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Pending 

Capital 
Approval

Connaught Heights (K-6) 150 320 320 320
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) 375 925 925 925

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (7-9) 225 725 725 725
Lord Kelvin (K-6) 250 710 710 710
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) 225 675 675 675
FW Howay (K-6) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) 150 725 725 725
Richard McBride (K-6) 275 715 780 780

Queen Elizabeth (K-5)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
75 380 380 665

Queensborough Middle (6-9) 75 450 450 450

New Westminster Secondary (10-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1800 8495 8635 8920

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 

 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 
 

  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 
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Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-6) Fraser River 54% 64% 101% -3 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) Fraser River 63% 76% 99% 12 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) Fraser River 64% 68% 74% 169 

Fraser River Middle (7-9) Fraser River 67% 77% 102% -12 
Lord Kelvin (K-6) Fraser River 72% 78% 101% -6 161
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) Glenbrook 81% 88% 100% -2 
FW Howay (K-6) Glenbrook 78% 89% 95% 9 
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) Glenbrook 88% 91% 98% 11 
Richard McBride (K-6) Glenbrook 69% 78% 100% 1 20

Queen Elizabeth (K-5) Queensborough 140% 155% 100% 3 

Queensborough Middle (6-9) Queensborough 70% 87% 97% 12 14

New Westminster Secondary (10-12)
77% 75% 84% 343 343

District Total 75% 82% 94% 538 538

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 
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Option 6: Reconfigure middle school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and create junior 

secondary school model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using combination 4 new 
builds (1 elementary and 1 junior secondary in Fraser River zone, 1 
elementary and 1 junior secondary in Glenbrook zone) and 2 additions 
(Queen Elizabeth Elementary and Queensborough Middle) 

 
Addition of 1800 seats in 6 schools: 

• 1,375 elementary 
•    475 secondary 

Cost: $88 million + 
 
Strengths:  

• nil 

Challenges: 

• expensive 
• site acquisition 
• significant grade reconfiguration 
• new Fraser River elementary school is very large (800 capacity); both new 

junior high schools are very small (150 capacity and 250 capacity) 
• catchments across zones would be required to right size school size (even-

out the very large elementary and the two very small junior secondaries) 
• 84% capacity at NWSS with 343 empty seats (built for 4 grade 

configuration; reconfigured to 3 grades).  International student loss of 185 
could be added back to NWSS and increase capacity to 92% but still under-
utilized for a secondary school. 

• prioritizes capacity utilization over educational programming 

  

Page 76 of 176



 

Page 29 of 40 

 

 
  

Zone
Enrolment 

2018
Enrolment 

2026
Enrolment 

2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-6) Fraser River 174                   206                    170 -4 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) Fraser River 583                   700                   550 -33 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) Fraser River 416                   443                   486 70 

Fraser River Middle (7-9) Fraser River 488                   562                   500 12 
Lord Kelvin (K-6) Fraser River 510                   553                   460 -50 
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-6) Fraser River 0 0 772 772 
NEW :  Jr Secondary  (7-9) Fraser River 0 0 237 237 1,003 
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) Glenbrook 550                   595                   452 -98 
FW Howay (K-6) Glenbrook 149                   168                     181 32 
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) Glenbrook 636                   661                   564 -72 
Richard McBride (K-6) Glenbrook 492                  609                   504 12  
NEW:  Elementary (K-6) Glenbrook 0 0 500 500 
NEW:  Jr Secondary (7-9) Glenbrook 150 150 523 

Queen Elizabeth (K-5) Queensborough 531                   589                   662 131 

Queensborough Middle (6-9) Queensborough 317                   389                   438 121 253
New Westminster Secondary (10-
12) 1562               1,572                1,757 195 195

District Total            6,408          7,049           8,382         1,974 1,974

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 
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Assumptions 
by 2041

Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Pending 

Capital 
Approval

Connaught Heights (K-6) 0 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) 0 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (7-9) 0 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-6) 0 460 460 460
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-6) 800 0 0 800
NEW : Jr Secondary School (7-9) 250 0 0 250
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) 0 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-6) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) 0 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-6) 0 440 505 505
NEW:  Elementary  (K-6) 500 0 0 500
NEW:  Junior Secondary (7-9) 150 0 0 150

Queen Elizabeth (K-5)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added 75 305 305 665
Queensborough Middle (6-9) 75 375 375 450

New Westminster Secondary (10-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1850 6695 6835 8970

Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-6) Fraser River 102% 121% 100% 0 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-6) Fraser River 106% 127% 100% 0 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) Fraser River 64% 68% 74% 169 

Fraser River Middle (7-9) Fraser River 98% 112% 100% 0 
Lord Kelvin (K-6) Fraser River 111% 120% 100% 0   
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-6) Fraser River 0% 0% 97% 28 
NEW :  Jr Secondary (7-9) Fraser River 0% 0% 95% 13 211 6%
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-6) Glenbrook 122% 132% 100% -2 
FW Howay (K-6) Glenbrook 78% 89% 95% 9 
Glenbrook Middle (7-9) Glenbrook 111% 115% 98% 11 
Richard McBride (K-6) Glenbrook 112% 121% 100% 1   
NEW:  Elementary (K-6) Glenbrook 0% 0% 100% 0 
NEW:  Jr Secondary (7-9) Glenbrook 0% 0% 100% 0 20 1%

Queen Elizabeth (K-5) Queensborough 174% 193% 100% 3 

Queensborough Middle (6-9) Queensborough 85% 104% 97% 12 14 -5%

New Westminster Secondary (10-12)
77% 75% 84% 343 343

District Total 96% 103% 93% 588 588 7%

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 

  École Qayqayt (K-6) 
 

  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-6) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-6) 
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Option Summary 
 

 
 

 
Preferred Option Recommendation 
 
Option 2:  Addition to Queensborough Middle School + 3 new schools (1 Middle and 1 
Elementary and 1 configuration to be determined). 
 
Because: 

• Options 1, 4, 5 do not fit (site and building design constraint) 
• Option 3 creates undesirable grade reconfigurations in 10 schools and 

prioritizes space utilization over educational programming 
• Option 6 is the most expensive and prioritizes space utilization over 

educational programming 
  

 Seats Cost Strengths Challenges
1,695 15.6 m no reconfiguration Qayqayt, FRMS and GMS do not fit (site/existing building design)

no redrawing catchments disruption due to construction impacting 9 sites
no site acquisition required no inventory renewal
inexpensive
118% capacity utilization reduction to 98%
148 seats available

1,465 79+ m minimal construction disruption:  2 additions to existing requires site acquisition
maintains established grade configuration expensive
renews inventory (new schools)
no site or expansion constraints ("fits" on site)
118% capacity utilization reduction to 98%
203 seats available

1,275  32 m mid-range cost undesirable grade reconfigurations in 10 schools
no site acquisition required prioritizes space utilization over educational programming

 118% capacity utilization to 100% 13 seast available
1,315  45 m no site acquisition required expensive

118% capacity utilization reduction to 99% disruption due to construction impacting  9 sites
NWSS does not fit (site/existing building design)
significant grade reconfiguration
53 seats available

may create have and have not schools where K-7 in purpose built 
middle schools may have more quality programming (exploratory 
space:  foods, tech ed labs etc) than a purpose built K-7

1,800 30.6 m no site acquisition required disruption due to construction impacting  10 sites
mid-range cost Qayqayt, FRMS and GMS do not fit (site/existing building design)

significant grade reconfiguration
353 empty seats at secondary
prioritizes space utilization over educational programming

1,800 88+ m Nil expensive
 site acquisition

significant grade reconfiguration
very large new elementary and 2 very small junior secondaries
353 empty seats at secondary
prioritizes space utilization over educational programming

Option 5:  Reconfigure middle 
school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and 
create junior secondary school 
model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using 
additions to existing schools

Option 6:  Reconfigure middle 
school model (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) and 
create junior secondary school 
model (K-6, 7-9, 10-12) using 
combination 2 additions and 4 new 
builds

Option 3:  Co-location of K-5 and 6-
8 on same site within zones

Option 1: Maintain configuration; 
additions to 8 sites

Option 2:  Maintain configuration; 
additions to 1 site + 1 NEW 
elementary, 1 NEW middle & 1 NEW 
Elementary or Middle TBD

Option 4:  Eliminate middle school 
model and reconfigure all 
elementary and middle schools K-
7 and the secondary school  8-12
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Family of School (Zone) Considerations – Preferred Option 
 
Fraser River Zone – Long-Range Priority #1 
 
Enrolment Growth between 2018 and 2041: 957 
Capacity Utilization by 2041:    125% 
 
Assumes McBride and NWSS are constructed. 
 
Priority on Annual 5-Year Capital Plan:  Priority #2 & 3 
SITE ACQUISITION & NEW:  Elementary School (500 students) by 2026 
 
SITE ACQUISITION & NEW:  Middle School (415 Students) by 2041 (yet to appear on 
capital plan) 
 
Result:  portables eliminated, 90% capacity by 2041 and 323 available seats 
 

 
 

  

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 2

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 460 460
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) 500 0 0 500
NEW :  Middle School (6-8) 415 0 0 415

  Zone
Suggested 

Enrolment 
Changes 2041

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River -129 158 190 170 12 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River -253 509 615 550 41 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 0 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River -258 491 561 500 9 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River -185 455 497 460 5  
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 455 0 0 455 455 
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Fraser River 370 0 0 370 370 957

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

Page 80 of 176



 

Page 33 of 40 

 

 
 
  

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 100% 0 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 100% 0 
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 0% 0% 91% 45 
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Fraser River 0% 0% 89% 45 323 10%

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 
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Glenbrook Zone – Long-Range Priority #2 
 
Enrolment Growth between 2018 and 2041:  492 
Capacity Utilization by 2041:     125%  
 
Assumes McBride and NWSS are constructed. 
 
Priority on Annual 5-Year Capital Plan:  Priority #4 
NEW:  Middle School (500 students) 
 
Result:  portables eliminated, 97% capacity by 2041 and 77 available seats 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 2

Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505
NEW:  Elem or Middle School 500 0 0 500

  Zone
Suggested 

Enrolment 
Changes 2041

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook -134 470 512 450 -20 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook -160 639 661 575 -64 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook -169 422 526 505 83  
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Glenbrook 463 0 0 463 463 492

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 100% 0 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 100% 0 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 100% 0  
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Glenbrook 0% 0% 93% 37 77 3%

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Queensborough Zone – Long-Range Priority #3 
 
Enrolment Growth between 2018 and 2041: 255 
Capacity Utilization by 2041:    105%  
 
Assumes Queen Elizabeth expansion approved and constructed. 
 
Priority on Annual 5-Year Capital Plan:  #1 
Queen Elizabeth: 12-classsroom and 1 gym addition to replace 10 portables 
 
Queensborough: 50 seat addition (not yet on capital plan) 
 
Result:  portables eliminated, 100% capacity by 2041 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 2

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 50 375 375 425

  Zone
Suggested 

Enrolment 
Changes 2041

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 108% -35 -3 0%
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District at a Glance 
 
Assumes approved capital projects are constructed (NWSS & McBride). 

Assumes pending capital projects are constructed (Queen Elizabeth). 

Assumes new elementary school in the Fraser River Zone. 

Assumes new middle schools in the Glenbrook and Fraser River Zones. 

Result:  elimination of portables, 98% capacity, 203 available seats by 2041. 

 

 
  

  Seats Added
Nominal 
Capacity 
Current

Nominal 
Capacity 

Approved 
Capital

Nominal 
Capacity 
Option 2

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 170 170
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 550 550

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5)
250 Added in 

18/19 Seismic 
Upgrade

655 655 655

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 500
Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 460 460
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) 500 0 0 500
NEW :  Middle School (6-8) 415 0 0 415
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 450 450 450
FW Howay (K-5) 190 190 190
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 575
Richard McBride (K-5) 440 505 505
NEW:  Elem or Middle School 500 0 0 500

Queen Elizabeth (K-4)
Assumes 285 
seats already 

added
305 305 590

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 50 375 375 425

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 2025 2100 2100

District Total 1465 6695 6835 8585

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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  Zone
Suggested 

Enrolment 
Changes 2041

Enrolment 
2018

Enrolment 
2026

Enrolment 
2041

 Growth   
2018 to 

2041 

 Zone 
Growth 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River -129 158 190 170 12 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River -253 509 615 550 41 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 0 357 383 422 65 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River -258 491 561 500 9 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River -185 455 497 460 5  
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 455 0 0 455 455 
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Fraser River 370 0 0 370 370 957
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook -134 470 512 450 -20 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 120 138 150 30 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook -160 639 661 575 -64 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook -169 422 526 505 83  
NEW:  Middle School (K-8) Glenbrook 463 0 0 463 463 492

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 443 495 558 115 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 320 390 460 140 255
New Westminster Secondary 
(9-12) (Incl. International & 
Alternate) 2024 2091 2294 270 270

District Total 0 6408 7059 8382 1974 1974

  Zone
Capacity 

Utilization 
2018

Capacity 
Utilization 

2026

Capacity 
Utilization 

2041

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

 Available 
Seats             
2041 

Connaught Heights (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 
Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) Fraser River 93% 112% 100% 0 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) Fraser River 55% 58% 64% 233 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) Fraser River 98% 112% 100% 0 
Lord Kelvin (K-5) Fraser River 99% 108% 100% 0 
NEW:  Elementary #1 (K-5) Fraser River 0% 0% 91% 45 
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Fraser River 0% 0% 89% 45 323 10%
Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) Glenbrook 104% 114% 100% 0 
FW Howay (K-5) Glenbrook 63% 73% 79% 40 
Glenbrook Middle (6-8) Glenbrook 111% 115% 100% 0 
Richard McBride (K-5) Glenbrook 96% 104% 100% 0  
NEW:  Middle School (6-8) Glenbrook 0% 0% 93% 37 77 3%

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough 145% 162% 95% 32 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) Queensborough 85% 104% 108% -35 -3 0%

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 
(Incl. International & Alternate)

100% 100% 109% -194 
-194 

District Total 96% 103% 98% 203 203 2%
 

NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt NWSS:  44 Alt
NWSS:  285 Int'l NWSS:  160 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l NWSS:  100 Int'l

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 

  École Qayqayt (K-5) 
 
  École Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

  École Herbert Spencer (K-5) 
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Summary 
Standard K-12 Facilities 

Additions to Queensborough Middle School and the construction of 3 new schools 
(Option 2) in New Westminster Schools: 

• improves the capacity utilization in the district from 118% capacity to  
98% capacity 

• provides asset renewal 
• aims to eliminate portables/modulars 
• provides 200+ available seats for enrolment fluctuation 
• keeps children in their preferred catchments/zones and  
• maintains sound educational programming 

Alternative Programming and Distributed Learning 

The relocation of the Continuing Education/Adult Education daytime program 
currently housed in six modulars/portables on the New Westminster Secondary 
School site is necessary.  Due to the location of the new build and the 
memorialization of the old building site land, there will be no space to house the 
program on the New Westminster Secondary site. 

Options: 

• additional leased space 
• utilize modular/portables on an existing SD40 site 
• co-locate with Royal City Alternate in five portables on Fraser River site 

(24 students currently attend in five portables) and add modular/portables 
to accommodate? 

• land acquisition on new site to accommodate modular/portables 

 
District and School staff at Pearson Adult Learning Centre are currently undergoing 
a visioning activity.  What could/should distributed learning  programming look 
like in 2019?  2026?  2041?  What physical space is required to provide quality 
programming?  Can the space be stand-alone or should it be connected to a school? 
 
With the recent purchase of 522 Fader Street in the Glenbrook Zone, and the 
intended construction of a middle school in the land parcel encompassing current 
Hume Park Elementary School (closed as an elementary school), the distributed 
learning Hume Park Home Learner Program, will be potentially displaced and may 
require a new location.  
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Options: 

• additional leased space 
• utilize modular/portables on an existing SD40 site 
• co-locate in a school with under-capacity utilization at the time of 

construction (e.g. Tweedsmuir) 
• incorporate program space into new middle school construction 

 
In the meantime, Hume Park Home Learner Program should continue to be housed 
in the closed Hume Park Elementary site, given that the middle school approval and 
construction is potentially years away. 
 
Royal City Alternate program should remain in its current location adjacent to 
Fraser River Middle School.  However, with a small number of students attending in 
a large space, it may be prudent to consolidate this space and co-locate with 
another district program on the Royal City Alternate site. 
 
Power Alternate Program and On-Line Access School should remain in leased space 
at Columbia Square until expiry.  Upon expiration, options should be considered 
such as lease renewal, new leased space, co-location and new incorporation into 
new capital builds as mentioned above. 
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Next Steps 

The Board seeks feedback relative to Options 1-4 for Standard K-12 schools and 
considerations for alternate and distributed learning programs, in the facilities 
review between April 4 and April 30, 2019. 

Questions to ask:  Has the District correctly considered Options 1, 2, 3 and 4?  Is 
there another option the District should consider?  Have options for alternate and 
distributed learning been fully explored? 

Feedback can be provided by April 30, 2019 using one or all of the tools below: 

Filling out the questionnaire attached to this review (Appendix B) 

Click on the survey link 

Email the Board at:  facilitiesreview@sd40.bc.ca 

Beginning May 1, the Board will take into the account the feedback it has received 
from the public, to consider any adjustments to the recommendations found in this 
review. 

By May 31, 2019, the Board intends to approve a Long-Range Facilities Plan so that 
Annual 5-Year Capital plans can be prepared, and so that district families, staff and 
Operations/Capital departments have clear communication and expectation for the 
future of New Westminster Schools. 
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INTRODUCTION 

Cascade Facilities Management Ltd. was contracted in December 2017 by School District 

No. 40 (New Westminster) to undertake a Long Range Facilities Plan to: 

 examine a longer timeframe beyond the 10-year required by the Ministry, to 

2041 to coincide with the longer term planning horizon of the recently adopted 

New Westminster Official Community Plan;  

 estimate the number of additional students from the new housing to be determined 

from the OCP, and to provide enrolment projections for the schools;  

 propose options to accommodate future enrolment increases;  

 prepare a further detailed study for the next 10 years based on the option 

preferred by the School Board. 

 
The scope of this study is limited to the number of students enrolled and receiving classroom 

instruction at the 12 schools in the District. The enrolment projection estimates do not include 

students enrolled in the following programs offered by the District and funded by the Ministry: 

 Royal City Alternate Program (RCAP) 

 POWER Alternate Secondary School 

 Home Learners Program 

 Island Discovery Learning Community 

 Pearson Adult Learning Centre  

 Virtual School BC Online Learning 

 
THE SCHOOL DISTRICT 

The School District has a total enrolment of 5,974 in eight elementary schools, three 

middle schools and one secondary school in addition to twenty-four portables used as 

classrooms. 

The VFA Condition Report indicates that six of the schools, with a Facility Condition Index 

(FCI) score of 0.01 and 0.40, are above the provincial average and the others below, with 

a score of 0.49 to 1.00. 

All schools in the high-risk category have been seismically upgraded or replaced, or 

supported for seismic upgrade or replacement. Two schools remain in the medium risk 

category and one in the low risk. 
 

COMMUNUTY DEMOGRAPHICS 

Census data from Statistics Canada indicate that the City of New Westminster grew from 

a population of 54,655 in 2001 to 70,995 in 2016. According to BCStats, the population 

is expected to reach 105,474 by 2041. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
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Based on the New Westminster Official Community Plan, there will be an addition of 

more than 15,000 new housing units. 

 
ENROLMENT PROJECTION 

The enrolment projection as prepared by Cascade Facilities Management Ltd. indicates 

an increase in enrolment from 5,974 in 2017 to 8,238 by 2041. 

The new housing developments will be yielding a student age population of close to 

2,800, and based on an assumed participation rate for the District, approximately 80% 

will be attending SD40 schools. 

The Capacity Utilization of the District will be reaching 100% by 2019, and without 

additional new spaces, will be operating at 111.6% in 2017 and 132.5% in 2041. 

 
OPTIONS 

Four options for new spaces are proposed: 

 Addition to schools based on growth in catchment areas - Scenario A 

 Addition plus new school sites - Scenario B 

 K-5/6-8 co-location on site – Scenario C 

 K-7 grade re-configuration – Scenario D 

 
PREFERRED OPTION 

The preferred option selected by the School Board was Scenario B. The 

recommendations for implementation for the next 10-year timeframe include: 

 Addition to Queen Elizabeth Elementary 

 Use of modulars at elementary schools in Fraser River and Glenbrook Zones where they are 

to remain beyond 2041 

 Portables to be used at elementary schools in Fraser River and Glenbrook Zones, and 

relocated upon completion of new elementary school 

 Portables to be used at Fraser River and Glenbrook, and relocated upon completion of new 

middle school  

 Status quo at New Westminster Secondary School upon completion of new build  

 Submit Project Request Fact Sheet to Ministry for land acquisition of new school sites 
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1.1 MINISTRY REQUIREMENTS 

The Ministry of Education in its Capital Plan Instructions requires school districts to develop and 

maintain a comprehensive Long Range Facilities Plan (LRFP) or be in the planning, development 

or finalized phase of a LRFP that: 

 forms the basis for school districts’ capital investment decisions and aligns with best 

practices in asset management as a key component for district-wide capital planning, and a 

framework for other local programming and operational decisions; 

 uses a ten-year planning horizon with consideration for the longer term; 

 may vary in scope and emphasis depending on the specific circumstances and priorities of 

each school district; and 

 is to be made available upon request of the Ministry. 

The LRFP takes into consideration education program requirements and trends, capacity 

utilization, seismic vulnerability and risk factor of school buildings, and current condition of 

existing facilities, in addition to current land use and anticipated changes, future housing 

developments, student yield rates, community demographics, local community and economic 

development strategies, and other long-term planning considerations. 

The LRFP supports the Five-Year Capital Plan to be submitted to the Ministry by providing a 

comprehensive rationale for specific capital projects that are proposed. In addition, the LRFP 

provides a district-wide framework for other key local decisions such as analysis of capacity 

utilization of surrounding schools, location of district programs and maintenance priorities. 

The District’s LRFP is to outline concrete plans for a ten-year horizon for planning to 2028/2029 

to meet Ministry requirements, with a more general consideration for the longer term to 2041, 

to align with City of New Westminster OCP. 
 

1.2 SCHOOL DISTRICT OBJECTIVES 

The objectives the School District wishes to achieve through the LRFP, include the following: 

 To guide the District and the Ministry in facilities decisions over the long term to ensure 

cost-effective operations of existing facilities and capital investments for new schools, 

additions, renovations/upgrades and replacements; 

 To provide a major update  to the 2007 Strategic Facilities Plan to coincide with the longer 
term planning horizon of the recently adopted New Westminster Official Community Plan; 

 To develop options to meet the anticipated increase in enrolment; 

 To consider the challenges of each option and to select a preferred one for further detailed 

study. 

1. INTRODUCTION 
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1.3 PROCESS 

The steps taken to complete the LRFP include: 

 Review of the District’s education programs, existing planning and facilities reports, 
including Facility Condition Index and Seismic Risk Ranking; 

 Confirmation of operating capacity of each school; 

 Analysis of growth trends from census data from  Statistics Canada, and review of 
population data and projections from BC Stats; 

 Review of New Westminster Official Community Plan and meeting with City 
Planners to confirm type, unit count, timeline and location of estimated new housing 
developments; 

 Calculation of  student yield expected from new housing developments; 

 Preparation of enrolment projections; 

 Calculation of space surplus/deficit for each school to develop options to address 

increasing/decreasing enrolments. 

 

 
Fig 1.3A: Summary of Process for Long Range Facilities Plan 

 

 
The scope of this plan is limited to the students enrolled at the 12 schools in the New Westminster 

School District, and who receive classroom instruction in the regular, Montessori, Early and Late 

French Immersion programs. The enrolment projection estimates do not include students 

enrolled in these programs offered by the District and funded by the Ministry: 

 Royal City Alternate Program 
 POWER Alternate Secondary School 

 The Home Learners Program 

 Island Discovery Learning Community 

 Pearson Adult Learning Centre  

 Virtual School BC Online Learning

 

 

 

Programs 

 

 

 
 

Review OCP  to 
 

 
  

 

schools in future years 
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2.1 OVERVIEW 

The New Westminster School District serves the geographical area comprising the City of New 
Westminster.  The District has been providing public education to its residents since the 1920’s. It offers 
classroom instruction from Kindergarten to Grade 12 students from a broad mix of ethnic and socio-
economic groups. . 

 
Within the District, there are 12 schools: eight elementary, three middle, and one secondary. 

 
Fig 2.1A: Map of New Westminster Schools 

 

2.  THE SCHOOL DISTRICT 
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The School District can generally be organized into three zones as defined by the middle school 
catchments. 

 

Fig 2.1B: New Westminster Schools Configuration 
Elementary Middle Secondary 

Connaught Heights (K-5)  

Fraser River (6-8) 

 
 
 
 

New Westminster 
          (9-12)  

Lord Kelvin (K-5) 

Ècole  Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 

Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 

Ècole  Herbert Spencer (K-5)  
Ècole  Glenbrook (6-8) FW Howay (K-5) 

Richard McBride (K-5) 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) Queensborough (5-8) 

 

2.2  PROGRAMS 
 

French Immersion programming at the elementary school level is provided at the following 
schools for both in-catchment and students from neighbouring  catchments: 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir: Queen Elizabeth, Connaught Heights, Lord Tweedsmuir and Lord 
Kelvin; Qayqayt: south portion of Ècole Herbert Spencer and Ècole Qayqayt; 
Herbert Spencer: Richard McBride, FW Howay and north portion of Herbert Spencer. 

Other programs are offered at these locations: 

Montessori at Connaught Heights and Richard McBride 

Strong Start at Connaught Heights, Richard McBride and Queensborough 

SIGMA Alternate Program at New Westminster Secondary School 

Royal City Alternate Program, in portables at 850 Queens Avenue 

POWER Alternate Secondary School in leased space at #200 – 1065 Columbia Street 

The Home Learners Program at 521 Fader Street  

Island Discovery Learning Community on Bowen Island 

Adult Learning (Pearson), at 835 8th Street 

Online Learning (Virtual School BC), in leased space at #200 – 1065 Columbia Street 

 
2.3 PORTABLES AND MODULAR BUILDINGS 

The District has 30 thirty portables and nine modular buildings. The modular buildings were 
provided for use as full-day kindergarten classrooms, and are included in the capacity 
calculation of the Design Aid Sheets, whereas the portables are not. 
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Fig 2.3: Inventory of Portables and Modular Buildings 
 

Modulars 
Location # Condition Use 

FW Howay 1 good classroom & washroom 

Ècole Herbert Spencer 3 good classroom & washroom 

Lord Kelvin 1 good classroom & washroom 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 2 good classroom & washroom 

Queen Elizabeth 2 good classroom & washroom 

TOTAL MODULARS 9 

Portables 
Location # Condition Use 

Board Office 1 good office 

Connaught Heights 1 fair classroom 
 1 fair daycare & washroom 

 2 good classroom 

Glenbrook 2 good classroom 

Hume Park 1 fair classroom 
 1 fair daycare 

Lord Kelvin 1 fair daycare & washroom 

 2 good classroom 

Lord Tweedsmuir 5 good classroom 
 1 good wash cart 

 1 good itinerants 
New West Secondary 1 fair staffroom & washroom 

 5 fair adult learning 
 2 fair apprentice program 

 2 fair maint, tech office & washroom 

Queen Elizabeth 2 good classroom 

 4 fair classroom 
 1 fair classroom with wash cart 

Queensborough 1 fair wash cart 
 1 fair daycare 

 1 fair Strongstart 

 1 fair daycare 

RCAP 4 good classroom & washroom 
 1 good classroom 

Richard McBride 1 fair Strongstart & washroom 
 2 fair classroom 

Qayqayt 1 good classroom 

TOTAL PORTABLES 49 
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2.4 FACILITY CONDITION 

As part of the Ministry of Education Capital Asset Management Services (CAMS) initiative VFA 

Canada conducted facility condition assessments for School District No. 40 in 2013. The purpose 
of these assessments is to determine the condition of each school facility, including their 
building systems, in order to determine the amount of capital funding resources required to 
renew it. An overall Facility Condition Index (FCI) is developed for each school facility, which 
provides a comparative indicator of the condition of facility relative to other facilities in the 
District. The Facility Condition Index (FCI) is expressed as: 

 

Facility Condition Index = C o st  to remedy maintenance deficiencies 
Replacement Value of Facility 

 
The annual and total costs to renew each and all the facilities can be derived from the data 
obtained from the Facility Condition Index.   It is intended that when a project is submitted for 
renovation or building systems upgrade in the Capital Plan, the Facility Condition 
Assessment report for the facility be included for review by the Ministry. 

The relative measure of the condition of the facilities, based on 5 years of deferred 
maintenance, is categorized either “Above Provincial Average” or “Below Provincial Average”. 

 

Fig 2.4A: Table showing FCI of Schools 
School Name FCI Condition 

Ècole Qayqayt 0.01  

 
Above Prov 

Average 

Fraser River Middle 0.01 

Queensborough Middle 0.07 

Glenbrook Middle 0.25 

FW Howay 0.33 

Ècole Herbert Spencer 0.40 

Lord Kelvin 0.49  

 
Below 

Provincial 
Average 

Queen Elizabeth 0.49 

Connaught Heights 0.61 

*Hume Park 0.78 
** Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 0.86 

***Richard McBride 1.00 

***New Westminster Secondary 1.00 
* Used for Home Learners Program 
**   To be upgraded 

*** To be replaced 
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Fig 2.4B: Chart showing FCI of Schools 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2.5 SEISMIC CONDITION 

 
In 2004, the Ministry of Education engaged consultants to undertake Rapid Visual Seismic 

Assessments on “all schools in those school districts where significant seismic activity can be 

expected”. These seismic assessments were undertaken by structural engineers for 16 

schools/sites in the School District. 

The seismic resistance of various elements such as roof diaphragm, lateral load resisting  

system, floor diaphragm, foundations, etc. of each block in the schools was analyzed and 

evaluated using site observation, drawing review and calculation. This was then expressed as a 

percentage of the estimated resistance compared to the requirements in Part 4 of the 2005 

National Building Code. The elements of each block were assigned seismic risk labels from Low, 

through Low-Moderate, Moderate-High to High and based on the cumulative element labels. 

New guidelines and assessment tools to conduct a comprehensive reassessment leading to a 

more accurate picture of seismic safety risks in B.C. schools were developed in 2011.  New risk 

categories have been established to determine the various levels of seismic risks in schools as 

follows: 

1.00 

0.90 

0.80 

0.70 

0.60 

0.50 

0.40 

0.30 

0.20 

0.10 

0.00 

* Used for HLP 

** To be upgraded 

*** To be replaced 

Below Prov Av 

Above Prov Av 
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High 1 (H1) 
Most vulnerable structure. At highest risk of widespread damage or structural failure, not repairable after a large 

seismic event. Structural and non-structural seismic upgrades required. 

High 2 (H2) 
Vulnerable structure, at high risk of widespread damage or structural failure, likely not repairable after a large 

seismic event. Structural and non-structural seismic upgrades required. 

High 3 (H3) 
Isolated failure of building elements such as walls are expected, building not likely repairable after a large seismic 

event. Structural and non-structural seismic upgrades required. 

Medium (M) 
Isolated damage to building elements is expected, non-structural elements (such as bookshelves, lighting) are at risk 
of failure. Non-structural upgrades required. 

Building to be upgraded or replaced within the Capital Plan when it has reached the end of its useful life. 

Low (L) 

Least vulnerable structure. Would experience isolated damage and would probably be repairable after a seismic 

event. Non-structural upgrades may be required. 

 

Fig 2.5A: Table showing Seismic Risk Ratings of Schools by Block (April 2016) 
 

Facility Name 
Block 

# 
 

Block Name 
Current 

Risk 

 

Status 
School 

Risk 

CONNAUGHT HTS 1 single-storey classroom Medium Non Structural Upgrade Req Medium 

CONNAUGHT HTS 2 gymnasium Medium Non Structural Upgrade Req Medium 

CONNAUGHT HTS 3 multipurpose Medium Non Structural Upgrade Req Medium 

FW HOWAY 1 1973 2-Storey Classrooms High 1 Supported 2013 High 1 

FW HOWAY 2 1973 Gymnasium High 1 Supported 2013 High 2 

LORD KELVIN 1 1963 single-storey classroom Low Meets Structural Life Safety Req Medium 

LORD KELVIN 2 1963 gymnasium Medium Non Structural Upgrade Req Medium 

LORD KELVIN 3 2000 1-storey Classroom Add Low Meets Structural Life Safety Req Medium 

LORD TWEEDSMUIR 1 1937 2-Storey Classrooms High 2 Supported High 2 

LORD TWEEDSMUIR 2 1937 2-Storey Gymnasium High 2 Supported High 2 

LORD TWEEDSMUIR 3 1-Storey Classrooms High 2 Supported High 2 

NWSS 1 Two-Storey Classroom High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 2 Small Gymnasium & Cafeteria High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 3 1952 Single-Storey Cafeteria High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 4 1955 Single-Storey Admin High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 5 1972 Single-Storey Auto Shops High 3 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 6 1969 Single-Storey Band Rooms High 2 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 7 N & S Large Gyms and Theatre High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 8 1965 Library & Administration High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

NWSS 9 1965 Single-Storey Shops High 1 Supported/Capital Project High 1 

QAYQAYT 1  N/A Newly Completed N/A 

QAYQAYT 2  N/A Newly Completed N/A 

QAYQAYT 3  N/A Newly Completed N/A 

QUEEN ELIZABETH 1 1987 Single-storey Classroom Low Meets Structural Life Safety Req Low 

QUEEN ELIZABETH 2 1987 Gymnasium Low Meets Structural Life Safety Req Low 

RICHARD MCBRIDE 1 1929 2-Storey Classroom High 1 Supported 2013 High 1 

RICHARD MCBRIDE 2 1929 Gymnasium High 2 Supported 2013 High 1 

Page 100 of 176



School District No. 40 (New Westminster) Long Range Facilities Plan Final Draft: 29 June 2018 

Cascade Facilities Management Consultants Ltd Page 9 of 40 

 

 

 

Since April 2016, approval has been given by the Ministry to proceed with the seismic upgrade 
at Lord Tweedsmuir, and the replacement of Richard McBride to a slightly higher capacity. 

 

2.6 CAPITAL PROJECTS 

In addition to the funding approval for the replacement of Richard McBride and the seismic 
upgrade of Lord Tweedsmuir, currently, the other major capital project is the replacement of 
the New Westminster Secondary School. 

 

New schools and additions since 2000, include: 
Lord Kelvin Elementary – Increase capacity from 80K/250 to 80K/400 (2001) 
Queensborough Middle – New school (2002) 
Ècole Qayqayt Elementary – Replacement of John Robson (2014) 
Fraser River Middle – New school on John Robson site (2016) 

 

2.7 SCHOOL CLOSURE 

Hume Park Elementary at 521 Fader Street, was closed in 2013/14 due to declining enrolment. 

It has been re-opened, and is currently housing for the Home Learners Program. 

 
2.8 POTENTIAL NEW SCHOOL SITES 

There are no new or vacant sites reserved for future expansion. 

 

2.9 SCHOOL NOMINAL AND OPERATING CAPACITIES 

The Ministry of Education provides Area Standards, which establish allowable areas for 

schools based on nominal capacity. The nominal capacity represents the student capacity of 

a school based on the following capacities per instructional space: 

 Kindergarten 20 students per classroom 

 Elementary 25 students per classroom 

 Middle & Secondary 25 students per classroom 

 
To accommodate capacity adjustments for grade structure and classroom student capacity 

based on class size limits prescribed by the Ministry of Education, the nominal capacity is 

adjusted to an operating capacity. The operating capacity is based on the following 

capacities per instructional space: 

 Kindergarten 

 Elementary (Grades 1-3) 

 Elementary (Grades 4-7) 

 Middle & Secondary 

19 students per classroom 

21 students per classroom 

25 students per classroom 

25 students per classroom 
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For the purpose of calculating the operating capacity of Queen Elizabeth, an average of 22.0 

is used for Grade 1 to 4 classrooms, and 19 for Kindergarten classrooms; for the other K-5 

school, 22.6 is used for Grade 1 to 5 classrooms, and 19 for Kindergarten classrooms. 

An inventory of the schools in the District showing the Nominal Capacity and Operating 

Capacity is shown in the table below: 

 
Fig 2.9A: Table showing Nominal and Operating Capacities of Schools 
 Nominal Capacity Operating Capacity 

Connaught Heights (K-5) 170 155 

FW Howay (K-5) 165 151 

Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 505 460 

Lord Kelvin (K-5) 460 419 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 440 400 

Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 550 502 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) 325 293 

Richard McBride (K-5) *535 487 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 500 

Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 575 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 375 375 

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) 1900 1900 

District Total 6500 6217 

A classroom space used by a Strong Start program is not included in the capacity calculation. 

The above table has been adjusted for schools with Strong Start programs. 

 

2.10 SCHOOL SITE CAPACITY 
  

Zoning 

 
Site Area 

Existing 
Floor Space 

Add Floor 
Space Allow 

Site Area 
Remaining 

 Queen Elizabeth P-1 17,510 2,692 7809 10,506 

 Queensborough P-2 15,935 4,058 11872 9,561 

 Ècole Qayqayt P-2 12,999 4,761 8238 7,799 

 Connaught Heights P-1 8,912 1,558 3788 5,347 

 Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir P-1 20,032 4,186 7833 12,019 

 Lord Kelvin P-1 13,079 3,202 4645 7,847 

 Fraser River P-2 13,407 5,446 7961 8,044 

 Ècole Herbert Spencer P-1 12,165 3,925 3374 7,299 

 F W Howay P-1 16,928 1848 8309 10,157 

 Richard McBride P-1 18,744 4,134 7112 11,246 

 Glenbrook Middle P-1 5,760 5,560 200 3,456 

 Hume Park Site* P-1 2835  2835 1,700 

 New Westminster P-2 110,626    

* includes additional site at 522 Fader and assuming FSR of 1.0 
 

Most of the school sites, except for Glenbrook, have adequate expansion capacity. 
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3.1 OVERVIEW 

New Westminster is one of 21 member municipalities of the Greater Vancouver Regional District, 

now known as Metro Vancouver. It is located on the north bank of the Fraser River, almost at the 

center of the lower mainland. It includes the neighbourhood of Queensborough, across the 

northern arm of the Fraser River estuary, on the eastern tip of Lulu Island next to Richmond. 

Other neighbouring municipalities include Coquitlam to the northwest, Burnaby to the north 

and northeast, and Surrey across the Fraser River. 
 

With a population of about 71,000 in 2016, and a land area of 15.6 sq km (6.0 sq miles), it has 

a population density of over 4,500 people per sq km, making it the 5th most densely populated 
municipality in the country. 

 
Figure 3.1A: Map of Metro Vancouver 

 

 
The population of New Westminster is well diversified. The immigrant population increased by 

over 40% between 2001 and 2011, significantly higher than the 23.7% increase for Metro 

Vancouver. 
 

Based on the latest census data available, in 2011, First Nations people made up 4.10% of the 

population of New Westminster, and immigrants 35.0%. Neighbourhoods with the larger than 

average immigrant population included: Queensborough (47%) and Downtown (40%) and 

Uptown (35%). 

3.  COMMUNITY DEMOGRAPHICS 
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The Median Age continues to increase from 38.8 in 2001 to 41.5 in 2016, reflecting the growing 

Age 65+ population group, a trend typical of the Canadian population. 

 
For the purposes of analysis in this section, data are obtained from these sources: 

 BC Stats P.E.O.P.L.E. 2016 (Aug 2016) 

 Statistics Canada Census, up to the 2016 Census: Population and Dwelling Counts (released 

February 2017) based on the municipal census boundaries 

 Reports and Demographics Data from the City of New Westminster 

 The Metro Vancouver Regional Growth Strategy Population Forecast – 2001 to 2041 

 
3.2 HISTORICAL POPULATION GROWTH 

 

The population of New Westminster has been growing steadily over the last three decades. 
From 1986 to 2001, there has been an increase of about 36.7% from 39,972 to 51,813, and, 
almost 30% to 76,995 from 2001 to 2016. In both periods, the average population growth 
rate for New Westminster has been higher than that for Metro Vancouver and the 
national average. 

 

Neighbourhoods experiencing large growth from 2001 to 2011, include: Queensborough 
(56.8%), Sapperton (44.3%) and Downtown (30.9%). 

 

Fig 3.2A: Chart showing Population Growth of New Westminster - 1986 to 2016 
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The slightly higher estimates provided by BCStats, are due to the adjustments made for 
differences in methodology used by Statistics Canada from one census year to another, 
undercounting and other errors in the Census data. 

 1986 1991 1996 2001 2006 2011 2016 

StatCan 39972 43585 49350 54655 58549 65976 70995 

BCStats 41656 44872 51489 57301 60533 67880 73771 
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Age 5-17 Population 

The age 5-17 population increased by 1,100, from 6,378 in 2001 to 7,478 in 2016. This 
represents an increase of 17.25%, and a slight decrease as a percentage of the total 
population, from 11.67% to 10.53%, 

 
Fig 3.2B: Table showing Age 5-17 and Age 65+ increases for New Westminster 
 2001 2006 2011 2016 

Age 5-17 Population 6378 7297 7304 7478 

Rate of Increase  14.41% 0.10% 2.38% 

% of Total Pop 11.67% 12.46% 11.07% 10.53% 
 

 

3.3 ENROLMENT PARTICIPATION RATE 
 

The student participation rate is the ratio of enrolled students in the School District to the age 
5-17 school-age population of the City of New Westminster. This is typically lower than 1.00 as 
some may be attending: 

o programs offered by the School District at other facilities 
o enrolled at independent schools; 
o home-schooled; or 
o neighbouring school districts. 

 

The participation rate is a useful measure to estimate the future student enrolment from the 
population projections provide by BCStats. It can be further refined to obtain the rates for 
elementary, middle and secondary age groups to calculate the number of students that will be 
enrolled at these levels from the future new housing. 

 

Fig 3.3A: Chart showing Student Participation Rates – 2001 to 2016 
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Fig 3.3B: Table showing Student Participation Rates – 2001 to 2016 
 2001 2006 2011 2016 

K-5 Participation Rate 81.72% 77.25% 82.10% 87.60% 

G 6-8 Participation Rate 79.24% 80.53% 76.10% 79.05% 

G 9-12 Participation Rate 82.09% 85.63% 76.09% 64.84% 

K-12 Participation Rate 81.29% 80.66% 78.72% 77.90% 
 

 

3.4 POPULATION GROWTH TO 2041 

The projection for the future population in the School District relied on a review of 
estimates from BC Stats and BC Ministry of Citizens’ Services, using a model known 
as P.E.O.P.L.E.  (Population Extrapolation for Organization Planning with Less Error) 
released in August 2016. 

 

As a cursory check, the additional population estimates can be compared with the total 
number of new residents estimated from additional housing to be developed in New 
Westminster by multiplying the number of new units by the average household size. 

 
Fig 3.4A: Chart showing Population Estimates in New Westminster – 2016 to 2041 

 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
Fig 3.4B: Table showing Population Estimates in New Westminster – 2016 to 2041 

 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Total Pop 73771 80467 87314 93872 99900 105374 

Age 5-17 7478 7911 9252 10236 10680 10649 

% of Total pop 10.14% 9.83% 10.60% 10.90% 10.69% 10.11% 
Source: (BC Stats P.E.O.P.L.E. 2016) 
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According to BCStats, the total population is expected to grow from 73,771 in 2016 to over 
105,374 by 2041, an increase of 42.8%. The age 5-17 population is expected to grow by more 
than 3,100 to over 10,600 by 2041. 

 

Some of the past trends that are useful in developing assumptions to be used for estimating the 
enrolment projections will include: 

 age 5-17 population as a percentage of the total population, and 

 participation rates of student at the elementary, middle and secondary school levels. 
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4.1 ENROLMENT PROJECTION METHODOLOGY 

The total enrolment projections for the District can be obtained from BCStats data by applying an 
assumed Participation Rate to the estimated age 5-17 population projections. The enrolment 
projections by school are impacted by new housing developments, their locations by catchment 
area, types and yield of students, and anticipated dates for occupancy. 

 
The process for development of the enrolment projections is summarized below: 

 Estimate age 5-17 population from BCStats data 

 Apply Participation Rate (assumed from trend of previous years) to obtain total the 
enrolment projections for the District 

 Estimate types and numbers of new housing units from Land Use map of NW OCP 

 Determine their locations (catchments) and anticipated completion dates 

 Obtain and apply Yield Factors of housing types to calculate number of age 5-17 
 Apply Participation Rates to obtain number of additional students attending 

elementary, middle and secondary schools, and distribute to schools within each Zone 

 Review Baragar base projections and modify with additional students for each school 
 

Fig 4.1A: Process for Development of Enrolment Projection 

 

 

4. ENROLMENT PROJECTION 
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4.2 NEW HOUSING UNITS FOR POPULATION GROWTH 
 

A quick method to calculate the number of new housing units required for the additional 
population in 2041 is to divide the increased population number by the average household size: 

 

Locations and types of new housing units can generally be obtained from a review of the OCP 
and the Land Use Designation map.  The number of units from each development can be 
calculated by an estimate of the density, and dividing the allowable floor space by the 
average unit type area. 

 

Occupancy dates of new housing developments were estimated by the application status of 
current major projects, major projects from future planning studies and policies, or 
averaged out over the next 25 years. Major projects included: 

 Downtown, various residential projects 

 Brewery District 

 100 Braid Street 
 Sapperton Green 

 22nd St Skytrain Station FTDA 

 Lower 12th Street 
 

The number of units sorted by types and zones are provided in the following table: 

Fig 4.2A: Table showing New Housing Units sorted by Zone 
  Queensborough Fraser River Glenbrook 

2016- 
Ground-Oriented 355 78 87 

Apartment 265 1610 1100 
2021 

Secondary Suite 95 30 60 

2021- 
Ground-Oriented 260 68 82 

Apartment 195 1615 350 
2026 

Secondary Suite 65 24 50 

2026- 
Ground-Oriented 260 68 122 

Apartment 195 1615 700 
2031 

Secondary Suite 65 24 50 

2031- 
Ground-Oriented 165 57 118 

Apartment 125 1525 700 
2036 

Secondary Suite 65 24 50 

2036- 
Ground-Oriented 165 57 118 

Apartment 125 1525 700 
2041 

Secondary Suite 65 24 50 

2016- 
Ground-Oriented 1205 328 527 
Apartment 905 7890 3550 

2041 
Secondary Suite 355 126 260 
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4.3 STUDENTS FROM NEW HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 
 

The number of students that are expected to be generated by new residential developments 
relies on the Yield Rates of the housing type. This is calculated by dividing the number of age 5- 
17 population residing in a new housing development by the number of units. Yield Rates of 
ground-oriented units, apartments and secondary suites were thus calculated for elementary, 
middle and secondary students. 

 

Fig 4.3A: Table showing average Yield Rates 
 Queensborough Fraser River & Glenbrook 

Housing Type Age 5-9 Age 10-13 Age 14-17 Age 5-10 Age 11-13 Age 14-17 

Ground-Oriented 0.17 0.12 0.15 0.204 0.090 0.150 

Apartment 0.053 0.030 0.020 0.064 0.023 0.020 

Secondary Suite 0.053 0.030 0.020 0.064 0.023 0.020 
 

Ground-oriented units include single-detached dwellings, duplexes and townhomes. 
Apartments include both low-rises under four storeys and high-rises more than four storeys. 
Secondary suites include self-contained accessory units in single-detached homes and separate 
infill dwelling units in single-family dwelling zone, where allowable. 

 

These rates were applied to the number of housing units by type to estimate the additional 
student age population at the elementary, middle and secondary levels for each zone. 
 
Participation Rate 

As described in Section 3, student participation rate is the ratio of students enrolled in schools 
to the age 5-17 population. Participation rates were calculated for the elementary, middle and 
secondary levels for previous census years, and assumptions made for future years as follows: 

 

 Elementary: 0.90 
 Middle: 0.825 
 Secondary: 0.725 

These rates were then applied to the additional elementary, middle and secondary school age 
population to arrive at the actual number of additional students from each zone. 

 

Fig 4.3B: Students from New Housing Developments sorted by Zone 
 2017-2021 2022-2026 2027-2031 2032-2036 2037-2041 

 E M S E M S E M S E M S E M S 

QB 70 43 44 51 31 33 51 31 34 34 20 21 34 20 21 

FR 105 45 32 129 54 38 149 62 46 162 67 49 162 67 49 

GB 84 35 20 37 16 15 65 27 20 64 26 20 64 26 20 
 

Elementary students were distributed to their respective catchment areas based on location 
and size of new housing developments. 
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Fig 4.3C: Students from New Housing Developments sorted by School Catchment 
 2017-2021 2022-2026 2017-2031 2032-2036 2037-2041 

Queen Elizabeth 70 51 51 34 34 

Queensborough 43 31 31 20 20 

Ècole Qayqayt 74 73 73 67 67 

Connaught Heights 5 17 26 34 34 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 9 9 9 9 9 

Lord Kelvin 18 30 41 52 52 

Fraser River 45 54 62 67 67 

Ècole Herbert Spencer 10 9 15 14 14 

FW Howay 3 2 4 4 4 

Richard McBride 71 26 46 46 46 

Glenbrook 35 16 27 26 26 

New Westminster 96 86 100 90 90 
 

These numbers were then adjusted for attendance at Montessori and French Immersion 
programs, as well as average cross-boundary percentages from previous years, and the phasing 
out of the enrolment of out-of-district students. 

 

4.4 ENROLMENT PROJECTIONS TO 2041 

Enrolment projections provide the estimated number of students at each school for future 
years, assuming no change in grade configuration and similar level of cross-boundary mobility. 
By comparison with the capacity of the school, a shortfall or surplus of spaces is determined. 

The enrolment projections reflect the “headcount” of students receiving classroom instructions 
in the 12 schools of the District. As previously stated, they do not include students enrolled in 
the following programs offered by the District and funded by the Ministry: 

 Royal City Alternate Program 

 POWER Alternate Secondary School 
 The Home Learners Program 

 Island Discovery Learning Community 

 Pearson Adult Learning Centre 

 Virtual School BC Online Learning 

Enrolment projections are useful to both the District and the Ministry to develop: 
 A strategic plan for the expansion of school facilities to meet additional spaces required 
 Budgetary requirements for capital project funding applications to the Ministry 
 District Growth Plan for required additional staff resources 

 

The methodology of enrolment projections took account of the historical retention rates and 
other trends and data gleaned from the Baragar Systems, and developed for each school by 
incorporating the additional students estimated from the future housing developments. 
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Fig 4.4A: Enrolment Projections to 2041 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Queen Elizabeth 418 459 495 523 541 558 
Queensborough 282 340 390 425 443 460 

Ècole Qayqayt 493 545 615 685 745 803 

Connaught Heights 164 180 190 226 260 299 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 347 370 383 396 409 422 

Lord Kelvin 419 447 497 547 597 645 

Fraser River 472 506 561 618 688 758 

Ècole Herbert Spencer 463 491 512 536 560 584 

FW Howay 127 133 138 142 146 150 

Richard McBride 433 499 526 576 625 674 

Glenbrook 619 645 661 686 711 735 
New Westminster 1737 1797 1877 1967 2055 2150 

DISTRICT 5974 6412 6845 7327 7780 8238 
 

District enrolment is expected to grow from 5,974 in 2017 to 8,238 by 2041, a growth of about 
37.94%. The largest growth will be in the Fraser River zone, which will see many large 

residential developments in the Downtown area, and other medium size projects at the 22nd 

Street Station and the Lower 12th Street area. 
 

Glenbrook zone will also see some large residential developments at 100 Braid, the Brewery 
District and Sapperton Green. Queensborough, without any major projects, will be seeing fast 
steady growth to 2031, and slowing down thereafter. 

 

Fig 4.4B: Enrolment Projections of Elementary and Middle Students by Zones 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Queensborough 700 799 885 948 984 1018 

Fraser River 1895 2048 2246 2472 2699 2927 

Glenbrook 1642 1768 1837 1940 2042 2143 
 

 

Fig 4.4C: Increase of Elementary and Middle Students by Zones 
 2017-2021 2022-2026 2027-2031 2032-2036 2037-2041 2017-2041 

Queensborough 99 86 63 36 34 318 

Fraser River 153 198 226 227 228 1032 

Glenbrook 126 69 103 102 101 501 
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5.1 OVERVIEW 

The Ministry published in the 2016/17 Capital Plan Instructions, guidelines for Optimal Space 

Utilization to minimize the costs of construction, operation and maintenance from inefficient 

facility use based on District Utilization. The District Utilization is an assessment of how 

efficiently capital assets are used by the school district. It is calculated as follows: 

District Enrolment 
X 100% = District Utilization 

Operating Capacity 

 
In addition, for projects to be considered for capital funding, each school district has to 

demonstrate optimization of space within the school district and/or the family of schools 

within reasonable proximity. 

 

5.2 DISTRICT AVERAGE CAPACITY UTILIZATION 

From Section 2, the Operating Capacity for the schools was established as follows: 

Fig 5.2A: Table showing Operating Capacity of Schools 
 Operating Capacity 

Connaught Heights (K-5) 155 

FW Howay (K-5) 151 

Ècole Herbert Spencer (K-5) 460 

Lord Kelvin (K-5) 419 

Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir (K-5) 400 

Ècole  Qayqayt (K-5) 502 

Queen Elizabeth (K-4) 293 

*Richard McBride (K-5) *487 

Fraser River Middle (6-8) 500 

Glenbrook Middle (6-8) 575 

Queensborough Middle (5-8) 375 

New Westminster Secondary (9-12) *1900 

District Total 6217 
* New replacement operating capacity 

Based on the operating capacities and the enrolment projections, the Capacity Utilization 

rates for 2016 to 2041 in 5-year intervals are calculated as follows: 

Fig 5.2B: Table showing Capacity Utilization of District 
 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Elem 
(Op Cap 2867) 

Enr 2840 3124 3356 3631 3883 4135 

Cap Util 99.1% 109.0% 117.1% 126.5% 135.4% 144.2% 

Middle 
(Op Cap 1450) 

Enr 1306 1491 1612 1729 1842 1953 

Cap Util 90.1% 102.8% 111.2% 119.2% 127.0% 134.7% 

Sec 
(Op Cap 1900) 

Enr 1707 1797 1877 1967 2055 2150 

Cap Util 89.8% 94.6% 98.8% 103.5% 108.2% 113.2% 

District 
(Op Cap 6217) 

Enr 5853 6412 6845 7327 7780 8238 

Cap Util 94.1% 103.1 % 110.1% 117.9% 125.1% 132.5% 

5. CAPACITY UTILIZATION & SPACE NEEDS 
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The School District will be reaching 100% capacity utilization by 2019, and without any new 
expansion, will be reaching 110.1% by 2026 and 132.5% by 2041, equivalent to a shortfall of 
2,021 spaces. 

 

5.3 SPACE SHORTFALL 
 

Fig 5.3B: Table showing Shortfall of Spaces – District by Elementary/Middle/Secondary 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Elementary -3 257 489 764 1016 1268 

Middle -77 41 162 279 392 503 

Secondary -163 -103 -23 67 155 250 

DISTRICT -243 195 628 1110 1563 2021 

 
 

 

Fig 5.3C: Chart showing Enrolment Projection and Operating Capacity – District 

Enrolment Projection & Operating Capacity - 2017 to 2041 
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Space Shortfall within District 

 Total enrolment in schools expected to increase from 5,974 in 2017 to 8,238 by 2041, an 
increase of 2,264 students and a shortfall of 2,021 spaces, based on an total operating 
capacity of 6,217 for the District 

 District-wide, elementary schools have already reached capacity; middle schools will reach 
capacity by 2020 and the secondary school by 2027 

 Some schools are already over capacity while others are under 
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Space Shortfall by Zone 

Fig 5.3D: Chart showing Enrolment Projection and Operating Capacity– Queensborough Zone 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
      

 

 
Fig 5.3E: Table showing Enrolment Projection and Capacity Utilization – Queensborough Zone 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

QE Enr Proj 418 459 495 523 541 558 

Surplus/Shortfall 125 166 202 230 248 265 

Capacity Utilization 142.7% 156.7% 168.9% 178.5% 184.6% 190.4% 

QB Enr Proj 282 340 390 425 443 460 

Surplus/Shortfall -93 -35 15 50 68 85 

Capacity Utilization 75.2% 90.7% 104.0% 113.3% 118.1% 122.7% 

QB Zone Enr Proj 700 799 885 948 984 1018 

Surplus/Shortfall 12 111 197 260 296 330 

Capacity Utilization 101.7% 116.1% 128.6% 137.8% 143.0% 148.0% 
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Fig 5.3F: Chart showing Enrolment Projection and Operating Capacity – Fraser River Zone 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
      

 
Fig 5.3G: Table showing Enrolment Projection and Capacity Utilization – Fraser River Zone 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

QQ Enr Proj 493 545 615 685 745 803 
Surplus/Shortfall -9 43 113 183 243 301 

Capacity Utilization 98.2% 108.6% 122.5% 136.5% 148.4% 160.0% 

CH Enr Proj 164 180 190 226 260 299 
Surplus/Shortfall 9 25 35 71 105 144 

Capacity Utilization 105.8% 116.1% 122.6% 145.8% 167.7% 192.9% 

LT Enr Proj 347 370 383 396 409 422 
Surplus/Shortfall -53 -30 -17 -4 9 22 

Capacity Utilization 86.8% 92.5% 95.8% 99.0% 102.3% 105.5% 

LK Enr Proj 419 447 497 547 597 645 
Surplus/Shortfall 0 28 78 128 178 226 

Capacity Utilization 100.0% 106.7% 118.6% 130.5% 142.5% 153.9% 

Tot Elem 1423 1542 1685 1854 2011 2169 

Surplus/Shortfall -53 66 209 378 535 693 

Capacity Utilization 96.4% 104.5% 114.2% 125.6% 136.2% 147.0% 

FR Enr Proj 472 506 561 618 688 758 
Surplus/Shortfall -28 6 61 118 188 258 

Capacity Utilization 94.4% 101.2% 112.2% 123.6% 137.6% 151.6% 

FR Zone Enr Proj 1895 2048 2246 2472 2699 2927 

Surplus/Shortfall -81 72 270 496 723 951 

Capacity Utilization 95.9% 103.6% 113.7% 125.1% 136.6% 148.1% 
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Fig 5.3H: Chart showing Enrolment Projection and Operating Capacity– Glenbrook Zone 
 

 
 
 

Fig 5.3J: Table showing Enrolment Projection and Capacity Utilization – Glenbrook Zone 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

HS Enr Proj 463 491 512 536 560 584 

Surplus/Shortfall 3 31 52 76 100 124 

Capacity Utilization 100.7% 106.7% 111.3% 116.5% 121.7% 127.0% 

FWH Enr Proj 127 133 138 142 146 150 

Surplus/Shortfall -24 -18 -13 -9 -5 -1 

Capacity Utilization 84.1% 88.1% 91.4% 94.0% 96.7% 99.3% 

RM Enr Proj 433 499 526 576 625 674 

Surplus/Shortfall -54 12 39 89 138 187 

Capacity Utilization 88.9% 102.5% 108.0% 118.3% 128.3% 138.4% 

Tot Elem Enr Proj 1023 1123 1176 1254 1331 1408 

Surplus/Shortfall -75 25 78 156 233 310 

Capacity Utilization 93.2% 102.3% 107.1% 114.2% 121.2% 128.2% 

GB Enr Proj 619 645 661 686 711 735 

Surplus/Shortfall 44 70 86 111 136 160 

Capacity Utilization 107.7% 112.2% 115.0% 119.3% 123.7% 127.8% 

GB Zone Enr Proj 1642 1768 1837 1940 2042 2143 

Surplus/Shortfall -31 95 164 267 369 470 

Capacity Utilization 98.1% 105.7% 109.8% 116.0% 122.1% 128.1% 
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Fig 5.3K: Chart showing Enrolment Projection and Capacity Utilization – NWSS 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

      
 

 
Fig 5.3L: Table showing Enrolment Projection and Operating Capacity – NWSS 
 2017 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

NWSS (G9-12) Enr Proj 1737 1797 1877 1967 2055 2150 

Surplus/Shortfall -163 -103 -23 67 155 250 

Capacity Utilization 91.4% 94.6% 98.8% 103.5% 108.2% 113.2% 
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6.1 OPTIONS FOR ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCHOOLS 

Options for expansion included: 

 Addition to schools based on growth in catchment areas - Scenario A 

 Addition to QE and QB; small modular additions and new school sites - Scenario B 

 K-5/6-8 co-location on site – Scenario C 

 K-7 grade re-configuration – Scenario D 

 
SCENARIO A: 

 Existing grade configuration to be maintained 

 Addition of varying size at schools where required 

 
Fig 6.1A: Chart showing additional spaces required at each school 
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Fig 6.1B: Table showing additional students and spaces required at each school 

6. OPTIONS & ISSUES 

 Operating 
Capacity 

Enr Proj - 
2017 

Enr Proj - 
2041 

Additional 
Enrolment 

Additional 
Spaces 

 Queen Elizabeth 293 418 558 148 265 

 Queensborough 375 282 460 202 85 

 Ècole Qayqayt 502 493 803 320 301 

 Connaught Heights 155 164 299 123 144 

 Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 400 347 422 57 22 

 Lord Kelvin 419 419 645 288 226 

 Fraser River 500 472 758 317 258 

 Ècole Herbert Spencer 460 463 584 99 124 

 F.W. Howay 151 127 150 17 -1 

 Richard McBride 487 433 674 243 187 

 Glenbrook 575 619 735 128 160 

 New Westminster 1900 1737 2150 443 250 

District Total 6217 5974 8238 2385 2021 
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SCENARIO B: 

 Existing grade configuration to be maintained 

 Addition at Queen Elizabeth and Queensborough; small addition with modulars to 
other elementary and middle schools where adequate open space can be maintained 

 New sites for up to two new elementary schools and one new middle school 

 Addition of 250 secondary school spaces dependent on review of future land use at the 

secondary school site 

 
Fig 6.1C: Proposed Scenario B 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 Addition of minimum 265 spaces to Queen Elizabeth and 85 spaces to Queensborough 

 Remaining 1,003 elementary students to be accommodated with addition of modulars and 
up to two new elementary schools on two new sites 

 Remaining 418 middle school students to be accommodated at new middle school at 3rd 

new site 

 Redistricting to provide catchments for new elementary schools and new zone for new 
middle school 

 Addition of 250 secondary school spaces dependent on review of future land use at the 

secondary school site 
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SCENARIO C: 
 Co-location of K-5/6-8 on same site 

 No additional site required 

 
Fig 6.1D: Proposed New K-8 Capacities for Queensborough Zone 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 Up to 350 additional elementary and middle school spaces required by 2041 

 Queen Elizabeth and Queensborough considered one site 

 Capacity of Queen Elizabeth increased to 550-575 

 Capacity Queensborough increased to 450-475 

 Reorganization of Queen Elizabeth to K-3 and Queensborough to G4-8; then capacity of 
Queensborough can be increased to 450- 475, and Queensborough to 550-575 
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Fig 6.1E: Proposed New K-8 Capacities for Fraser River Zone 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 950 additional spaces required by 2041 

 Connaught Heights increased to 350 (increase of students from future developments near 

22nd St Station) 

 Connaught Heights maintained as K-5 (G6-8 students from Connaught Heights catchment to 

attend LT) 
 Capacity of Lord Tweedsmuir increased to 650 

 Capacity of Lord Kelvin increased to 675 (increase of students from Lower 12th Ave) 

 Capacity of Qayqayt increased to 625 (increase of students from Downtown) 

 Capacity of Fraser River increased to 625 (increase of students from Downtown) 

 Catchment area for Qayqayt increased 

 Catchment boundaries between Lord Kelvin and Lord Tweedsmuir adjusted 
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Fig 6.1F: Proposed New K-8 Capacities for Glenbrook Zone 
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* new operating capacity used for RM 

 
Proposed Implementation: 

 475 additional spaces required by 2041 

 Capacity of Herbert Spencer can be increased to 575 

 Capacity of FW Howay can be increased to 400 

 Catchment area of FW Howay enlarged 

 Catchment areas of Herbert Spencer and Richard McBride can be reduced 
 Capacity of Richard McBride can be increased to 600, due to large increase of students 

from Brewery District, 100 Braid and Sapperton Green 

 Glenbrook maintained at same capacity, as there is no allowable additional floor space 

 Potential annex of capacity 200 at Hume Park site, with acquisition of neighbouring site 
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SCENARIO D: 
 Reconfigure elementary and middle schools to K-7 and the secondary school to Grade 8-12 

 No additional site required 

 Approximately 600 less spaces required for Grade 8 students, who are to be part of 

Grade 8-12 secondary school 

 
Fig 6.1G: Proposed New K-7 Capacities for Queensborough Zone 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 250 additional spaces required by 2041 

 Queen Elizabeth expanded to 450 capacity for K-7 

 Queensborough expanded to 475 capacity for K-7 
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Fig 6.1H: Proposed New K-7 Capacities for Fraser River Zone 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 700 additional spaces required by 2041 

 Connaught Heights increased to 300 as K-4 annex (Grade 5-7 students from Connaught 

Heights catchment to attend LT) 
 Increase in capacity of Lord Tweedsmuir to 550 

 Increase in capacity of Lord Kelvin to 600 (increase of students from Lower 12th Ave) 

 Increase in capacity of Qayqayt to 600 (increase of students from Downtown) 

 Increase in capacity of Fraser River to 600 (increase of students from Downtown) 
 Minor adjustment of catchment boundaries between Lord Kelvin and Lord Tweedsmuir
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Fig 6.1J: Proposed New K-7 Capacities for Glenbrook Zone 
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Proposed Implementation: 

 225 additional spaces required by 2041 

 No change in capacity at Herbert Spencer 

 Capacity of FW Howay increased to 375 

 Catchment area of FW Howay enlarged 

 Catchment areas of Herbert Spencer and Richard McBride reduced 

 No change in capacity at Richard McBride 

 Glenbrook maintained at same capacity (no allowable additional floor space) 

 Potential annex of capacity 200 at Hume Park site, with acquisition of neighbouring site 
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6.2 OPTIONS FOR EXPANSION OF SECONDARY SCHOOL 
 

G9-12 Option - addition of 250: 

 On-site at NWSS; dependent on review of future land use at the secondary school site; 

 “Satellite urban” program in commercial podium of new Downtown residential 

development. 

 
G8-12 Option - addition of 850: 

 On-site at NWSS; dependent on review of future land use at the secondary school site; 

 New site for separate small secondary school of capacity 850. 

 
6.3 MAJOR ISSUES 

The School District will be growing in enrolment from 5,974 in 2016 to 8,238 in 2041, an 

increase of 2,264 students, reaching a capacity utilization of 132.5%.  The number of 

additional new spaces required to bring it to maintain 100% capacity utilization is 2,021, 
(2041 Enrolment minus Operating Capacity). 

 
The major issues emerging from the Options for expansion of schools to accommodate growth 

of student enrolment of over 2,385 from 2016 to 2041 include: 

1. Maximum capacity of schools / Grade reconfiguration 

 Pros and cons of large schools affecting educational quality 

 Reduction of available open space on site 

 Potential traffic congestion in neighbourhood 

 
2. New Sites for Schools 

 Lack of adequate large sites in residential areas for schools 

 Feasibility of further development potential at NWSS site 

 Feasibility of compact sites in urban settings for schools through density bonusing of 

residential developments, and co-located with residential developments 

 SSAC, financing and timeframe 

 
3. Options for Secondary School Expansion 

 On-site 

 New site 

 
4. Early development of a Building Program for the strategic implementation of expansion to 

relieve pressure of additional students at schools with minimal use of portables at schools 
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It is highly recommended that the School District work in close co-ordination and co-operation 

with the Planning Department of the City of New Westminster to: 

 share information on planning enquiries, applications and permit approvals for new 

housing to form an accurate basis for the following year’s enrolment projection, 

 identify potential new school sites and protocols for their acquisition, and 

 initiate submission of PRFS to Ministry for land acquisition of new school sites, if 

required. 

 
As market conditions such as affordability, level of interest rates, absorption rate (number of 

units sold over number of units on market), have a great impact on the timeframe for 

development, the number of units, location and type, Yield Factors and Participation Rates 

could be updated with the availability of new Census data to reflect the actual pace of housing 

development and population growth. 

 

In order to relieve the pressure of additional students at schools with the minimal use of 

portables, it is also highly recommended that a Building Program be developed early for the 

timely delivery of new projects, taking account of the duration of time required from project 

request to approval of capital funds. 
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Subsequent to the review by the School Board of the different scenarios proposed to meet the 

challenges of the increasing enrolment to 2041, members decided on Scenario B as the 

preferred option. 

 

Scenario B maintains the existing grade configuration of the elementary, middle and secondary 

schools. It proposes: 

 

 additions to both Queen Elizabeth Elementary and Queensborough Middle; 

 small addition of modular buildings to school sites where availability of open space is 

not compromised; 

 requirement of new elementary and middle schools. 

 
7.1 ENROLMENT, CAPACITY UTILIZATION AND SPACE SURPLUS/SHORTFALL TO 2027 

The enrolment projection for the next 10 years to 2027 is provided below. 

Fig 7A: Enrolment Projections to 2027 
 Year 

0 
Year 

1 
Year 

2 
Year 

3 
Year 

4 
Year 

5 
Year 

6 
Year 

7 
Year 

8 
Year 

9 
Year 
10 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Queen Elizabeth 418 428 439 449 459 468 476 483 490 495 500 
Queensborough 282 299 314 327 340 353 363 373 382 390 397 
Ècole Qayqayt 493 505 517 531 545 559 573 587 591 615 629 
Connaught Heights 164 167 171 175 180 183 186 192 194 200 197 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 347 352 358 365 370 372 374 377 380 383 386 
Lord Kelvin 419 425 431 437 447 457 467 477 487 497 507 
Fraser River 472 488 495 500 506 517 528 539 550 561 572 
Ècole Herbert Spencer 463 470 477 484 491 495 499 503 507 512 517 
FW Howay 127 128 130 131 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 
Richard McBride 433 454 475 487 499 504 509 514 520 526 534 
Glenbrook 619 627 635 640 645 658 651 654 657 661 667 
New Westminster 1737 1752 1767 1782 1797 1813 1829 1845 1861 1877 1895 

DISTRICT 5974 6095 6209 6308 6412 6513 6590 6680 6756 6855 6940 
 

The enrolment for the District is expected to grow by 539 or 9.0% from 5,974 in 2017 to 6,513 
by 2022 (Year 5), and by 966, or 16.2% to 6,940 by 2027 (Year 10), broken down as below: 

2022    2027 
 

Elem 308 548 
Mid 155 263 
Sec 76 158 

7. PREFERRED OPTION 
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The Capacity Utilization and space surplus/shortfall is calculated for Year 5 and Year 10 in the 
tables below. 

 
Fig 7B: Cap Util & Space +/- in Year 5 and Year 10 – Queensborough and Fraser River Zones 
 Year 0 Year 5 Year 10 

2017 2022 2027 

 
Queen Elizabeth 

enr 418 468 500 

cap util 142.7% 159.7% 170.6% 

space +/- 125 175 207 

 
Queensborough 

enr 282 353 397 

cap util 75.2% 94.1% 105.9% 

space +/- -93 -22 22 

 

 
Ècole Qayqayt 

enr 493 559 629 

cap util 98.2% 111.4% 125.3% 

space +/- -9 57 127 

 
Connaught Heights 

enr 164 183 197 

cap util 105.8% 118.1% 127.1% 

space +/- 9 28 42 

 
Ècole Lord Tweedsmuir 

enr 347 372 386 

cap util 86.8% 93.0% 96.5% 

space +/- -53 -28 -14 

 
Lord Kelvin 

enr 419 457 507 

cap util 100.0% 109.1% 121.0% 

space +/- 0 38 88 

 

 
Elem Sch - Fraser River Zone 

enr 1423 1571 1719 

cap util 96.4% 106.4% 116.5% 

space +/- -53 95 243 

 

 
Fraser River Middle 

enr 472 517 572 

cap util 94.4% 103.4% 114.4% 

space +/- -28 17 72 
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Fig 7C: Cap Util & Space +/- in Year 5 and Year 10 – Glenbrook Zone & NWSS 
 Year 0 Year 5 Year 10 

2017 2022 2027 
Ècole Herbert Spencer enr 463 495 517 

cap util 100.7% 107.6% 112.4% 
space +/- 3 35 57 

FW Howay enr 127 134 139 
cap util 84.1% 88.7% 92.1% 
space +/- -24 -17 -12 

Richard McBride enr 433 504 534 
cap util 88.9% 103.5% 109.7% 
space +/- -54 17 47 

Elem Sch - Glenbrook Zone enr 1023 1133 1190 
cap util 93.2% 103.2% 108.4% 
space +/- -75 35 92 

 

Glenbrook enr 619 658 667 
cap util 107.7% 114.4% 116.0% 
space +/- 44 83 92 

 

New Westminster enr 1737 1813 1895 
cap util 91.4% 95.4% 99.7% 
space +/- -163 -87 -5 

DISTRICT enr 5974 6513 6940 
cap util 96.1% 104.8% 111.6% 
space +/- -243 296 723 

 

According to the above calculations, the District in 2017 has not reached 100% capacity 

utilization. That is expected when the enrolment is expected to reach the full operating 

capacity of 6,217 by 2019. There will an expected shortfall 296 spaces by 2022, and 723 by 

2027. 
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7.2 RECOMMENDATION FOR IMPLEMENTATION OPTIONS 
 

Queensborough Zone: 

 Full addition to Queen Elizabeth Elementary to increase capacity required by 2041 should 

be considered 

 Addition to Queensborough Middle can be considered at a later stage 

 No action is required for NWSS as it will still be under full capacity 

 
Fraser River Zone: 

 Modulars and portables can be used at the elementary schools which are over capacity as 

requirements are small, varying from 2-3 at Connaught Heights to 5 at Qayqayt 

 Modulars should be used where they are to remain past 2041; otherwise portables should 

be used until no longer required upon completion of new elementary school 

 Portables should be used at the Fraser River Middle until no longer required upon 

completion of new middle school 

 No action is required for NWSS as it will still be under full capacity 

 Submit PRFS to Ministry for land acquisition of new school site 

 
Glenbrook Zone: 

 Modulars and portables can be used at the elementary schools which are over capacity as 

requirements are small, varying from 2-3 at Richard McBride and Herbert Spencer 

 Modulars should be used where they are to remain past 2041; otherwise portables should 

be used until no longer required upon completion of new elementary school 

 Portables should be used at the Glenbrook Middle until no longer required upon completion 

of new middle school 

 No action is required for NWSS as it will still be under full capacity 

 Submit PRFS to Ministry for land acquisition of new school site 
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Appendix B:  Feedback Questionnaire 

Long-Range Facilities Review, New Westminster Schools-April 4, 2019  

1. After analyzing the enrolment, capacity, utilization and condition data, 
what priorities began to emerge for you? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2. Is there a scenario that was not presented in the review, that should be 

considered?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. Do you have any questions about the options presented in the review 

document or in Cascade's technical document?  
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4. What physical space is required to provide quality programming in an 
alternate or distributed learning setting?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Is there anything else you would like the Board of Education to consider 
before it approves a final Long-Range Facilities Plan? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6. How often should the Board update the community on the data and/or the 

progress in the Plan? 
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Supplement to: OPERATIONS POLICY & PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Date: May 14, 2019 

Submitted by:  Mark Gifford, Chair 
 

Item: Requiring Action Yes ☒ No ☐ For Information ☐ 

 
Subject: Living Wage for Families and New Westminster Schools 

 
 
Background: 
 
In New Westminster Schools, we see the impact of poverty on physical, social, emotional, and 
cognitive development of children, and its relationship to learning. This is why we have taken 
leadership to do what we can to adopt policy and programs that address inequality and reduce 
stigma in our schools, such as through our School Nourishment Program, Sanctuary Schools 
Policy, or Menstrual Initiative.  We can take pride in these efforts, and see the difference they 
make in creating conditions for inclusion and success of all students and families. 
 
A living wage helps an employer do its part to ensure that the work it pays people to do does not 
keep them in poverty.  A living wage is the hourly amount a family needs to cover basic expenses, 
including food, rent, clothing, child care, transportation and a small savings.  In British Columbia, 
this amount is reviewed and recalibrated each year.  In 2019, the Living Wage in Metro 
Vancouver is $19.50. 
 
A Living Wage policy could help ensure New Westminster Schools walk the talk of equity, 
inclusion, and fairness.  It has been a tangible statement by employers to put their values into 
action, and in our case, one that strengthens learning outcomes for students in our District.  
 
As a first step, the New Westminster Board of Education can work with staff to take time to learn 
more about the benefits and considerations of becoming a Certified Living Wage Employer, and 
how best to move forward as a District. 
 
Recommendation: 
 

THAT the Operations Policy and Planning Committee recommend to the Board of 
Education of School District No. 40 (New Westminster) to instruct staff to prepare a 
report, on or before the November 19, 2019 Operations Policy and Planning 
Committee Meeting, that provides an analysis of the costs and benefits of  
New Westminster Schools becoming a Living Wage Employer. 
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not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and 
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At KPMG, we are passionate about earning your trust. We take deep 
personal accountability, individually and as a team, to deliver 

exceptional service and value in all our dealings with you.

At the end of the day, we measure our success from the only 
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Executive summary 
Purpose of this report

This report is for the Operations Policy & Planning Committee’s (the “Board”)
information with respect to the planning of the annual audit of School District No. 
40 (New Westminster) (the “District”).

We are pleased to provide, as a requirement of our audit planning and reporting, 
the enclosed information relating to the planned scope and timing of the audit of 
the financial statements of the District for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Audit materiality

We determine materiality in order to plan and perform the audit and to evaluate the 
effects of identified misstatements on the audit and of any uncorrected 
misstatements on the financial statements. For the current year, materiality 
of $1,600,000 has been determined.

See page 2 for more details.

Areas of audit focus

Our audit is risk-focused. In planning our audit we have taken into account key 
areas of focus for financial reporting. These include:
− Non-capital deferred contributions
− Tangible capital assets and deferred capital contributions
− School generated funds
− Employee future benefits and salaries
− Auditors’ Opinion – Compliance Framework
See page 3-5 for more details.

Independence

We are independent and have extensive quality control and conflict checking 
processes in place. We provide complete transparency on all services and follow 
Board approved protocols.
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Materiality 
Materiality determination Comments Amount

Benchmark Based on prior year’s total expenses. This benchmark is consistent with other public sector 
entities and with the prior year.

$76.8 million

Materiality Determined to plan and perform the audit and to evaluate the effects of identified misstatements 
on the audit and of any uncorrected misstatements on the financial statements. The 
corresponding amount for the prior year’s audit was $1,200,000.

$1,600,000

% of Benchmark The industry standard percentage for the audit is between 0.5% and 3.0%. The corresponding
amount for the prior year’s audit was 1.7%.

2.1%

Audit Misstatement Posting 
Threshold (“AMPT”)

Threshold used to accumulate misstatements identified during the audit. The corresponding
amount for the prior year’s audit was $60,000.

$80,000

Materiality represents the level at which we think misstatements will reasonably influence users of the 
financial statements. It considers both quantitative and qualitative factors.

To respond to aggregation risk, we design our procedures to detect misstatements at a lower level of 
materiality. 

We will report to the Board:

Corrected audit misstatements

Uncorrected audit misstatements
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Areas of audit focus 
Area of focus Why are we focusing here? Our audit approach

Non-capital 
deferred 
contributions

The District receives restricted 
contributions. These amounts are 
received for specific purposes and 
are deferred until the associated 
stipulations have been fulfilled.

− Obtain an understanding of the activities with respect to 
contributions received to ensure that revenues are appropriately 
deferred in accordance with their stipulations.

− Substantive testing, including a review of all significant funding 
agreements and correspondence received from funding parties. 

− Substantive testing of expenditures to ensure they are 
consistent with the terms of the funding.

Tangible capital 
assets and 
deferred capital 
contributions

The District has various capital 
projects ongoing throughout the 
year.

The District defers restricted 
contributions received for the 
acquisition of capital assets.  Once 
spent, the contributions are 
amortized into revenue over the 
life of the asset acquired.

− Obtain an understanding of the process over contributions 
received, the acquisitions made or construction of related 
tangible capital assets and amortization of the assets and 
deferred capital contributions.

− Vouch a sample of asset additions to determine appropriate 
treatment as capital, and perform test of details over 
contributions received to ensure that contributions are 
appropriately deferred in accordance with the stated accounting 
policy.

− Review the reasonableness of amortization expense and 
amortization of deferred capital revenue to ensure amortization 
is being recognized on the same basis as the amortization of 
the related tangible capital asset.

− Review agreements for contractual commitments and related 
disclosure requirements.

School 
generated 
funds

There is a substantial amount of 
money that flows through the 
elementary, middle and secondary 
schools, which is accounted for 
and reported by the administrative 
staff at each school.

− Obtain an understanding of the cash handling and processing 
procedures.

− Substantive testing, including a review of reconciliations and 
internal audit reviews performed at the schools during the year.
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Areas of audit focus (continued) 
Area of focus Why are we focusing here? Our audit approach

Employee 
future benefits 
and salaries

Employee future benefits and 
salaries are a significant portion of 
the District’s operations.

− Obtain an understanding of the activities over the initiation, 
authorization, and recording of the payroll process.

− Perform substantive analytical procedures over salaries and 
benefits and review significant fluctuations from prior year.

− Review the external actuary report and key actuarial 
assumptions for reasonableness and compliance with Public 
Sector Accounting Standards.

− Test the accuracy of employee data sent to the actuary for the 
computation of employee future benefits.

Auditors’ 
Opinion -
Compliance 
Framework

Financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with appropriate 
financial statement framework.

− The financial statements are prepared under Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting (“PSA”) standards, supplemented by the 
requirements of Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by 
the Province of British Columbia Treasury Board.

− These regulations direct the District to apply PSA, except in 
regard to accounting for restricted contributions. Under the 
regulations, capital contributions are to be deferred and 
amortized on the same basis as the amortization of the related 
tangible capital assets, not in accordance with the underlying 
stipulations on the funding, as required under PSA.

− As a result, the District’s revenue recognized in the statement of 
operations and certain related deferred capital revenue would 
have been recorded differently under Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards.

− The Office of the Auditor General (“OAG”) has requested 
additional reporting, under the Group Auditor requirements, in 
order to perform the consolidation of the Provincial Accounts 
under the PSA standards.
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Audit risks 
Professional requirements Why is it significant?

Fraud risk from management override of controls. This is a presumed fraud risk. We have not identified any 
specific additional risks of management override relating to 
this audit.

Our audit approach

As the risk is not rebuttable, our audit methodology incorporates the required procedures in professional standards to 
address this risk. These procedures include testing of journal entries and other adjustments, performing a retrospective 
review of estimates and evaluating the business rationale of significant unusual transactions.

  Annual inquiries

 

Professional standards require that during the planning of our audit we obtain your views on risk of fraud and other matters.
We make similar inquiries to management as part of our planning process; responses to these will assist us in planning 
our overall audit strategy and audit approach. Accordingly, we would like you to consider the following questions:

− Are you aware of any significant fraud risks facing the District?
− How do you exercise effective oversight of management’s process for identifying and responding to the risk of fraud 

and the internal controls that management has established to mitigate these fraud risks?
− Are you aware of or have you identified any instances of actual, suspected or alleged non-compliance with laws and 

regulations or fraud, including misconduct or unethical behaviour related to financial reporting or misappropriation of 
assets? If so, have the instances been appropriately addressed and how have they been addressed?

− Are you aware of the District entering into any significant unusual activities?

If you have any matters that you would like to bring to our attention on the above questions, please contact us.
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Other Matters – Ministry Funding Model Review 
In February 2018, an Independent Funding Model Review Panel was enlisted to review and provide recommendation to the way funding is allocated in the K-12 
public education sector in British Columbia. The Panel issued 22 recommendation for the Minister of Education that are intended to improve the K-12 public 
education system for students. The recommendations were provided in the following themes: Theme 1: Equity of Education Opportunity; Theme 2: Accountability; 
Theme 3: Financial Management. 

Four working groups have been established with subject matters representatives; the engagement and input from the working groups will help inform the 
transformation of a new funding model, with an overarching focus on equity of education opportunity for all students in the province. 

Working groups are responsible for fostering shared awareness of how the current model affects their workstream, identifying implications (operational, 
educational, other) related to the assigned recommendations, developing strategies to mitigate those implications, and identifying key indicators through which 
success can be measured. 

The following is a summary of the recommendations from Theme 3: Financial Management:

— Recommendation 18: The Ministry should identify net cost pressures and new program expenditures and, as part of the annual provincial budgeting process, 
bring them forward to Treasury Board for consideration when the total quantum of public education funding is being set.

— Recommendation 19: To support multi-year financial planning: Government should issue three-year operating funding to Boards of Education, based on 
available funding and projected student enrolment; and school districts should be required to develop three-year financial plans.

— Recommendation 20: The Ministry should establish clear provincial policies on reserves to ensure consistent and transparent reporting, while maintaining 
school districts’ ability to establish reserves. Specifically, the Ministry should: set clear provincial policies on what school districts may save for, directly 
related to their strategic plans; establish an acceptable provincial range for unrestricted reserves, encompassing accumulated operating surpluses and local 
capital, which should be monitored and reported on (if required); ensure that school districts have specific plans attached to each item or initiative when 
setting reserves, and provide clear reporting on how the funds were spent; and work with school districts to transfer any overages beyond the approved 
threshold into a fund at the school district level, to be accessed only with Ministry approval.

— Recommendation 21: There should be no change in the way that locally-generated revenues are treated by the Ministry when calculating operating funding 
for school districts.

— Recommendation 22: In the current absence of dedicated funding for some capital expenditures, the Ministry should either: provide capital funding for 
expenditures that are currently not reflected in the capital program; or clarify which items are ineligible for capital program funding and ensure that school 
districts are permitted to establish appropriate reserves that allow them to save for these purchases on their own (i.e. accumulated operating surplus, local 
capital). 
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Key deliverables and milestones 

Conduct audit field work Provide audit opinion on 
financial statements

May July September September October

Present the Audit Planning 
Report to the Board

Present the Audit Findings 
Report to the Board

Complete and release 
reporting package and 

subsequent events update 
to the Auditor General

Page 144 of 176



KPMG Audit Planning Report | 8

The 2019 Auditors’ Report 
In response to stakeholders demanding more than a binary pass/fail opinion from the auditors’ report, the new and revised 
auditor reporting standards have introduced significant changes to the traditional auditors’ report we provide.

In April 2017, the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“AASB”) in Canada approved the new and revised auditor 
reporting standards as Canadian Auditing Standards (CASs).

  Highlights of changes to your 2019 auditors’ report Key audit matter reporting

Re-ordering of the auditors’ report including moving opinion to the 
first section.

Communicating the key audit matters (KAMs) applies for audits 
performed in accordance with the Canadian Audit Standards.

KAMs are those matters communicated to those charged with 
governance that required significant auditor attention in performing the 
audit, and in the auditor’s professional judgment, were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. 

Currently, the reporting of KAMs in the auditors’ report is only applicable 
when required by law or regulation or when the auditor is engaged to do 
so. 

Separate section on “Material Uncertainty Related to Going 
Concern” if a material uncertainty is identified.

Separate section on “Other Information” (e.g. MD&A).

Expanded descriptions of management’s responsibility, including 
those related to assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

New description of responsibilities of those charged with 
governance.

Impact to the 2018 auditors’ report

Accordingly, your 2019 auditors’ report will not include the 
communication of any KAMs as we have not yet been engaged to 
communicate them and there is no law or regulation that requires such 
communication.

Expanded descriptions of management’s, those charged with 
governance and auditors’ responsibilities.
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Appendices 

Appendix 1: Audit quality and risk management

Appendix 2: Required communications 

Appendix 3: Engagement letter

Appendix 4: Current developments

Appendix 5: Draft Auditors’ report
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KPMG
Audit quality

and risk
management

Independence,
integrity, ethics
and objectivity

Personnel
management

Acceptance &
continuance of

clients /
engagements

Engagement
performance

standards

Independent
monitoring

Other risk
management

quality controls

Appendix 1: Audit quality and risk management 
KPMG maintains a system of quality control designed to reflect our drive and determination to deliver independent, unbiased 
advice and opinions, and also meet the requirements of Canadian professional standards.

Quality control is fundamental to our business and is the responsibility of every partner and employee. The following diagram 
summarizes the six key elements of our quality control system.

Visit our Audit Quality Resources page for more information including access to our most recent Audit Quality Report.

Other controls include:

− Before the firm issues its audit 
report, the Engagement Quality 
Reviewer reviews the 
appropriateness of key elements.

− Technical department and 
specialist resources provide real-
time support to audit teams in the 
field.

We conduct regular reviews of 
engagements and partners. Review 
teams are independent and the work 
of every audit partner is reviewed at 
least once every three years.

We have policies and guidance to 
ensure that work performed by 
engagement personnel meets 
applicable professional standards, 
regulatory requirements and the 
firm’s standards of quality.

We do not offer services that would 
impair our independence.

All KPMG partners and staff are 
required to act with integrity and 
objectivity and comply with applicable 
laws, regulations and professional 
standards at all times.

The processes we employ to help retain 
and develop people include:

− Assignment based on skills and 
experience;

− Performance evaluation;

− Development and training; and

− Appropriate supervision and 
coaching

We have policies and procedures for 
deciding whether to accept or continue 
a client relationship or to perform a 
specific engagement for that client.

Existing audit relationships are 
reviewed annually and evaluated to 
identify instances where we should 
discontinue our professional 
association with the client.
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Appendix 2: Required communications 
In accordance with professional standards, there are a number of communications that are required during the course of 
and upon completion of our audit. These include:

Engagement letter Management representation letter

The objectives of the audit, our responsibilities in carrying out our 
audit, as well as management’s responsibilities, are set out in the 
engagement letter and any subsequent amendment letters. See 
Appendix 3.

We will obtain from management certain representations at the 
completion of the annual audit. In accordance with professional 
standards, copies of the representation letter will be provided to the 
Board.

Audit planning report Audit findings report

  As attached. At the completion of our audit, we will provide our audit findings to the 
Board.

Required inquiries

Professional standards require that during the planning of our audit 
we obtain your views on risk of fraud and other matters. We make 
similar inquiries of management as part of our planning process; 
responses to these will assist us in planning our overall audit 
strategy and audit approach accordingly.
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Appendix 3: Engagement letter 
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Appendix 4: Current developments 
As accounting standards evolve over time, it is important that those charged with governance be aware of their implications 
for the District’s financial reporting.

The following includes a summary of upcoming accounting standards and developments relevant to the District:

Standard Summary and implications

Asset Retirement 
Obligations

– A new standard has been approved that is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.
– The new standard addresses the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of legal obligations 

associated with retirement of tangible capital assets in productive use. Retirement costs would be recognized as an 
integral cost of owning and operating tangible capital assets. PSAB currently contains no specific guidance in this 
area.

– The ARO standard would require the public sector entity to record a liability related to future costs of any legal 
obligations to be incurred upon retirement of any controlled tangible capital assets (“TCA”). The amount of the initial 
liability would be added to the historical cost of the asset and amortized over its useful life.

– As a result of the new standard, the public sector entity would have to: 
• consider how the additional liability will impact net debt, as a new liability will be recognized with no corresponding 

increase in a financial asset;
• carefully review legal agreements, senior government directives and legislation in relation to all controlled TCA 

to determine if any legal obligations exist with respect to asset retirements;
• begin considering the potential effects on the organization as soon as possible to coordinate with resources 

outside the finance department to identify AROs and obtain information to estimate the value of potential AROs 
to avoid unexpected issues.

Revenue – A new standard has been approved that is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022.
– The new standard establishes a single framework to categorize revenues to enhance the consistency of revenue 

recognition and its measurement. 
– The standard notes that in the case of revenues arising from an exchange, a public sector entity must ensure the 

recognition of revenue aligns with the satisfaction of related performance obligations. 
– The standard notes that unilateral revenues arise when no performance obligations are present, and recognition 

occurs when there is authority to record the revenue and an event has happened that gives the public sector entity 
the right to the revenue.
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Appendix 4: Current developments (continued) 
Standard Summary and implications

Financial 
Instruments and 
Foreign Currency 
Translation

– New accounting standards, PS3450 Financial Instruments, PS2601 Foreign Currency Translation, PS1201 Financial 
Statement Presentation and PS3041 Portfolio Investments have been approved by PSAB and are effective for years 
commencing on or after April 1, 2021.

– Equity instruments quoted in an active market and free-standing derivatives are to be carried at fair value. All other 
financial instruments, including bonds, can be carried at cost or fair value depending on the government’s choice and 
this choice must be made on initial recognition of the financial instrument and is irrevocable.

– Hedge accounting is not permitted.
– A new statement, the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses, will be included in the financial statements. 

Unrealized gains and losses incurred on fair value accounted financial instruments will be presented in this statement. 
Realized gains and losses will continue to be presented in the statement of operations.

– Based on stakeholder feedback received, PSAB is considering certain scope amendments to PS 3450 Financial 
Instruments. An exposure draft with the amendments is expected to be issued in December 2018. The proposed 
amendments are expected to include the accounting treatment of bond repurchases, scope exclusions for certain 
activities by the federal government, and improvements to the transitional provisions. 

Employee Future 
Benefit 
Obligations

– The Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) has initiated a review of sections PS3250 Retirement Benefits and 
PS3255 Post-Employment Benefits, Compensated Absences and Termination Benefits. Given the complexity of 
issues involved and potential implications of any changes that may arise from this review, the project will be 
undertaken in phases. Phase I will address specific issues related to measurement of employment benefits. Phase 
II will address accounting for plans with risk sharing features, multi-employer defined benefit plans and sick leave 
benefits.

– Two Invitations to Comment were issued and have closed. The first Invitation to Comment sought guidance on 
whether the deferral provisions in existing public sector standards remain appropriate and justified and the 
appropriateness of accounting for various components of changes in the value of the accrued benefit obligation and 
plan assets. The second Invitation to Comment sought guidance on the present value measurement of accrued 
benefit obligations.

– A third Invitation to Comment seeks guidance on non-traditional pension plans. The deadline for responses to the 
third Invitation to Comment is February 1, 2019.

– The ultimate objective of this project is to issue a new employment benefits section to replace existing guidance.
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Appendix 4: Current developments (continued) 
Standard Summary and implications

Concepts 
Underlying 
Financial 
Performance

– PSAB is in the process of reviewing the conceptual framework that provides the core concepts and objectives 
underlying Canadian public sector accounting standards.

– A Statement of Concepts (“SOC”) and Statement of Principles (“SOP”) were issued for comment in May 2018 and 
has closed. The SOC proposes a revised, ten chapter conceptual framework intended to replace PS 1000 Financial 
Statement Concepts and PS 1100 Financial Statement Objectives. The revised conceptual framework would be 
defined and elaborate on the characteristics of public sector entities and their financial reporting objectives. Additional 
information would be provided about financial statement objectives, qualitative characteristics and elements. General 
recognition and measurement criteria, and presentation concepts would be introduced.

– The SOP includes principles intended to replace PS 1201 Financial Statement Presentation. The SOP proposes:
• Removal of the net debt indicator, except for on the statement of net debt where it would be calculated 

exclusive of financial assets and liabilities that are externally restricted and/or not available to settle the 
liabilities or financial assets.

• Changes to common terminology used in the financial statements, including re-naming accumulated surplus 
(deficit) to net assets (liabilities).

• Restructuring the statement of financial position to present non-financial assets before liabilities.
• Removal of the statement of remeasurement gains (losses) with the information instead included on a new 

statement called the statement of changes in net assets (liabilities). This new statement would present the 
changes in each component of net assets (liabilities).

• A new provision whereby an entity can use an amended budget in certain circumstances.
– Inclusion of disclosures related to risks and uncertainties that could affect the entity’s financial position.
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Appendix 4: Current developments (continued) 
Standard Summary and implications

Public Private 
Partnerships 
(“P3”)

– A taskforce was established in 2016 as a result of increasing use of public private partnerships for the delivery of 
services and provision of assets.  

– A Statement of Principles (“SOP”) was issued in August 2017 which proposes new requirements for recognizing, 
measuring and classifying infrastructure procured through a public private partnership. An Exposure Draft of the 
new standard is expected to be issued in December 2018. 

– The SOP proposes that recognition of infrastructure by the public sector entity would occur when it controls the 
purpose and use of the infrastructure, when it controls access and the price, if any, charged for use, and it controls 
any significant interest accumulated in the infrastructure when the P3 ends.  

– The SOP proposes the public sector entity recognize a liability when it needs to pay cash or non-cash consideration 
to the private sector partner for the infrastructure.  

– The infrastructure would be valued at cost, with a liability of the same amount if one exists. Cost would be measured 
by discounting the expected cash flows by a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to 
the project.

International 
Strategy

– PSAB is in the process of reviewing its current approach towards International Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
This project may result in changes to the role PSAB plays in setting standards in Canada. 

– A consultation paper was released for comment in May 2018 and has closed. The consultation paper described the 
decision-making criteria PSAB expects to consider in evaluating the international strategy that best serves the 
public sector. It also introduced four proposed international strategies that PSAB considers to be viable.
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Appendix 5: Draft Auditors’ report 
Expected form of the District’s auditors’ report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Education of School District No. 40 (New Westminster), and

To the Minister of Education, Province of British Columbia

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of School District No. 40 (New Westminster) (the “Entity”), which comprise:

• The statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019

• the statement of operations for the year then ended

• the statement of  changes in net financial assets (debt) for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 
23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Appendix 5: Draft Auditors’ report (continued) 
Expected form of the District’s auditors’ report (continued)

Emphasis of Matter – Financial Reporting Framework
We draw attention to note 2 to the financial statements which describes the applicable financial reporting framework and the significant differences between the 
financial reporting framework and Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises Information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon, included in the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis document.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained the Information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 
document as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Appendix 5: Draft Auditors’ report (continued) 
Expected form of the District’s auditors’ report (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget 
and Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 
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Appendix 5: Draft Auditors’ report (continued) 
Expected form of the District’s auditors’ report (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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